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Profile
LHT Holdings Limited has been in the timber industry for more than 20 years.

Established in 1977, LHT has grown to be one of the largest manufacturing companies

of high quality wooden pallets, boxes and crates in Singapore. Sited on a 63,568 sq m

land, the Company has a staff strength of 164 involved in the areas of administration,

manufacturing and warehousing.

In 1997, LHT was awarded ISO 9002 certification on the quality management system.

In December 2002, LHT’s ISO 9002 certification had been successfully renewed and

converted to ISO 9001 : 2000 on the manufacture, purchase and supply of wooden

pallets, cases and crates, Technical Wood and  wood flooring system.

In 2001, LHT was awarded ISO 14001 certification on its environment management

system that demonstrated its commitment towards environmental excellence. The

Company was also awarded the Enterprise 50 Award in 1995 and 1996 respectively.  In

1998, we received the 27th International Trophy for Quality by the Trade Leader ‘s Club

based in Mardrid, Spain. On December 03, 2002, LHT has been successfully elected for

the 21st Century, Global Triumphant Product Golden Rim Award from the Medium

Business Development Association of China.  The winning of the award speaks for the

performance and contribution made by the Company.

As part of its ongoing efforts to reduce waste and to protect the precious timber

resources of the earth, LHT has established the Singapore’s first wood waste recycling

plant equipped with highly automated system from Germany to produce a series of

Technical Wood products. With the high technology involved, the products have the

advantage of being consistent in colour, texture and high density. Wood cracks, mould

and insect attacks are prevented through strict process of treatment and drying. The

products are therefore ideal for furniture, flooring, building material and heavy-duty

industrial usage.

Being environmentally friendly and equipped with highly automated machines, the

Company was selected by the Ministry of the Environment to be one of the Clean and

Green Week’s participants. The public, statutory board’s staff and students visited the

Company, gaining in-depth knowledge on the techniques and applications of our

products, Technical Wood, wooden pallet and case and wood waste recycling plant.
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Board of Directors

Neo Koon Boo
Managing Director

Tan Kim Sing
Executive Director

Yap Mui Kee
Executive Director

Tan Kok Hiang
Non Executive,
Independent  Director

Low Peng Kit
Non Executive,
Independent  Director

Sally Yap Mei Yen
Alternate Director to
Yap Mui Kee / Joint
Company Secretary

Mr Neo Koon Boo
is one of the founders of the Company and has been its
Managing Director since the Company was established on
29 August 1980. Mr Neo’s experience in the timber industry
spans 25 years. He is responsible for the general
management of the Company and its financial well-being
and plays a key role in charting out its strategic direction.
Over the last decade, Mr Neo had been instrumental in the
expansion of the Company’s business. He has expanded the
customer base of the Company and also established a
reliable network of suppliers within the region. Today, Mr
Neo is the driving force behind the Company’s wood waste
recycling operation.

Mr Tan Kim Sing
is also one of the founders of  the Company and  has been
an Executive Director since 29 August 1980. Mr Tan has more
than 25 years’ experience in the timber industry and is
knowledgeable in the production of wooden crates and
pallets and also in the procurement of timber. He is
responsible for the Company’s production operations and
is involved in the direct purchase of raw material for the
Group. He holds a Diploma in Business Administration from
the Productivity and Standards Board in Singapore.

Ms Yap Mui Kee
has been the Executive Director of the Company since 2
January 1988 and is in charge of all sales and marketing
functions of the Group. She has over fifteen years’
experience in these functions and plays a key role in
exploring opportunities in new markets. Part of her
responsibility is also to monitor the market developments
so as to streamline the Company’s product development
efforts to market demands. She is actively involved in the
Group’s ECR (Efficient Consumer Response) pallet rental
business in Singapore and Malaysia. She holds a Diploma in
Sales & Marketing from the Marketing Institute of
Singapore.

Mr Tan Kok Hiang
joined the Company as an Independent Director on 1 July
1999. Mr Tan was a Managing Director in Sembawang
Capital Pte Ltd from 1991 to 1999 and is presently an
Executive Director of Viz Branz Limited. He is experienced
in capital markets functions, corporate finance, asset
management, financial investments, accounting, etc.  Mr
Tan currently sits on the boards of few other public listed
companies as independent director. He graduated from the
University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Accountancy
(Honours) and is an Associate member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants (United Kingdom).

Mr Low Peng Kit, BBM
joined the Company as an Independent Director on 1 July
1999. Mr Low currently is the Managing Director of FMC
Education Centre Pte Ltd and he also sits on the boards of
few other companies, which have businesses in education
services, health care, construction and marketing. In these
companies, Mr Low has been involved in sales,
administration and accounts. In addition, Mr Low is also
actively involved in grassroots organisations. He is currently
the Chairman of Yew Tee Citizens’ Consultative Committee,
Secretary of Yew Tee PAP Community Foundation and he is
also Council Members of Hong Kah Town Council and South
West Community Development Council. He is a Vice
Chairman of Unity Secondary School Advisory Committee.

Ms Sally Yap Mei Yen
is an Alternate Director to Ms Yap Mui Kee since 20 July
1998. She is also a Joint Company Secretary of the Company
from 29 March 2001. She has experience in areas of audit,
accounting and corporate secretarial function. She is
responsible for all the corporate secretarial function and
corporate affairs of the Company. She holds a Master of
Business Administration from Manchester Business School,
The University of Manchester. She is also a Fellow member
of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrator
(United Kingdom).

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
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Senior Managers

Mr William Tan Tew Hian
joined the Company as an Administration and Financial Controller in May 2000. He is  also
a Joint Company Secretary of the Company since 29 March 2001. He is responsible for all
aspects of financial management and accounting function of the Group. Mr Tan also
oversees human resource and administration functions of the Company. He has over 15
years of experience in finance and accounting.  His past experience includes being a General
Manager (Finance) of Hitachi Zosen Singapore Limited and Deputy Financial Controller of
Keppel Hitachi Zosen Limited. He has a Degree in Business (Accounting) from the University
of Southern Queensland in Australia and is a non-practising member of the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.

Mr Wan Choon Hwa
is the Plant Manager responsible for overall operation of the recycle plant. He also assists
in the operation of pallet, packaging and flooring production. Mr Wan joined the company
in January 1998. He has a wide range of project management experience and was the
project engineer at MHE-Dematic Logistic Pte Ltd from 1996 to 1998 and Keppel Engineering
Pte Ltd from 1994 to 1995. Relevant to his role in managing the wood waste recycling
project is his professional experience and skills in systems installation, procurement,
commissioning and training. Mr Wan has a Degree in Mechanical Engineering (Honours)
from Nanyang Technological University.

Mr William Yap Yew Weng
is the Senior Sales Manager and is responsible for the sales of pallets, packaging and all
timber related products of the Company. He joined the Company in June 1985 and has
since gained over 20 years of experience in sales and marketing of pallet and packaging
products and at the same time has established good customer relationship for the Company.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr Yap worked as a Purchasing Officer of Singapore Adhesive
& Chemical Pte Ltd, a subsidiary of Kuok (Singapore) Limited. Mr Yap holds a Diploma in
Sales & Marketing from the Marketing Institute of Singapore.

Mr Yeo Boon Chan
is the Procurement Manager of the Company and he is responsible for procurement function
of the Company. Mr Yeo has over 15 years of experience in purchasing of timber and
timber related material. He joined the Company in April 1990 and he has since held various
positions in the Company including the Logistic and Warehouse Manager and Deputy
Factory Manager. Prior to joining the Company, Mr Yeo worked with Tong Nam Timber Pte
Ltd.

Mr Terence Chuah Tatt Jin
joined the company in October 1999 as Marketing Manager. His primary responsibility is
to oversee the marketing, business development as well as advertising and promotions
and to establish local and international distribution network. He is also overseeing the
operations of representative office in Shanghai, China. He has over 10 years of experience
in regional sales and marketing of consumer products and industrial products. Prior to
joining the company, he was a Business Development Manager of a building material
company and an Assistant Manager (International Franchise Division) of a listed company.
He has a Master of Business Administration (International Marketing) degree from the
Oklahoma City University and a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration degree
from Hawaii Pacific University in USA.



On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am

pleased to present the annual report and

audited Financial Statements of LHT Group

for financial year 2003.

Chairman’s Statement

“As the strong emphasis on global environmental
protection continues, we believe the demand for
environmentally friendly products will increase in the
foreseeable future.”

Review of performance

Year 2003 was an extremely difficult year as the Group was affected by
the sluggish economy, the uncertainty caused by the SARS epidemic and
the Iraq war in the first half of the year.

The Group’s revenue declined by 9.95% to $22.18 million (2002: $24.63 million).
Revenue from pallet and packaging product decreased by 9.28% to $14.85 million

was due mainly to reduced production or relocation of our clients and intense competition from suppliers
in the region. Likewise, the lower level of trading activities resulted in the decrease in revenue for
timber related products to $4.62 million (2002: $5.32 million). The uncertain circumstances and the cost
cutting measures implemented by our customers also affected the demand for technical wood products,
which resulted in revenue declined by 23.56% to $1.30 million. (2002: $ 1.71 million).

The decrease in sales volume and profit margin, coupled with higher production cost of technical wood
products, resulted in an operating loss in most of the business segments. In addition, as the Group
intensified our efforts to procure sales in overseas markets such as China, Thailand and Korea, our
advertising and travelling expenses increased correspondingly. There were also additional overhead
expenses incurred by our Malaysian subsidiaries due to the modification of the operational process and
the improvement of production facilities in order to stay competitive. Despite our cost saving efforts,
the total production cost was unable to be contained, and therefore profit margin eroded.

As a result, the Group incurred a loss before tax of $3.14 million (2002: $1.08 million). With a tax refund
of $0.34 million for the overpayment of the prior year’s income tax for the Company, the Group loss
after tax amounted to $2.86 million (2002: $0.08 million).

In view of the above and on behalf of the Board of Directors, I regret to inform our shareholders that
there will be no dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2003.
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Chairman’s Statement

Neo Koon Boo
Managing Director

Outlook

With signs of improvement in the economy and increasing demand for
our products, the Group is confident of a promising future ahead.  Our
strategy is to market our products in the international markets so as to
widen our customer base and seek for further growth in all our core
business activities. Our distribution channels in China, Japan, Korea,
Thailand, Malaysia and Australia have started gaining more recognition for our technical
wood products and have gradually secured more orders. Our marketing efforts in Korea
over the year have shown results as more orders for technical wood which were received
in the fourth quarter, have also continued into 2004. Meanwhile, the expansion of our
pallet rental business including ECR (efficient consumer response) pallet in the Malaysia
market has also shown results.

As the strong emphasis on global environmental protection continues, we believe the
demand for environmentally friendly products will increase in the foreseeable future.

This trend will augur well with our environmental-friendly technical wood and
will eventually lead to greater demand for this new product.

We will continue to enhance our competency by emphasising on cost control,
quality services, prompt delivery to our client and improvement in productivity.
These efforts will enable us to stay competitive in the coming years.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to thank our customers,
shareholders, bankers, and business associates for their continuing support over the years
as well as the management and staff for their dedication in serving the Group during the
past difficult year.
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Operations & Financial Review

Pallet and Packaging

Pallet and packaging business was affected by the generally depressed
market condition and the uncertain economy in the first half of 2003.
Reduced production or relocation of our customers, and the intense
competition from suppliers of neighbouring countries contributed to the
further fall in the selling prices and sales orders. As a result, revenue for wooden
pallets and packaging product declined 9.28% to $14.85 million (2002: $16.40
million).

The associated company, Takashima Packaging (S) Pte Ltd, also experienced a decrease in
operating profit due to the keen competition in the pallet market. Higher raw material
cost, lower sales volume and profit margin resulted in the segment incurred an operating
loss before tax of $0.95 million.

As the general economy continues to improve both locally and internationally, the Group
expects sales orders for this segment to improve gradually. Whilst selling price of pallet
and packaging products will remain competitive, the Group will strive to maintain our
market share by channelling more production orders to its Malaysian subsidiary, Lian Hup
Packaging Industries Sdn Bhd. Meanwhile, we will expand our pallet business including
ECR (Efficient Customer Response) pallet in the Malaysian market through our marketing
network which was successfully established in last year.

Timber Related Products

Revenue for timber related products declined 13.19% to $4.62 million (2002:
$5.32 million) due to decrease in trading activities, and with the keen competition
and insufficient volume to cover higher operating cost, it resulted in a small
operating  profit before tax of $0.14 million. Our subsidiary, LHT Marketing Pte
Ltd, which specialises in the Japanese market, incurred an operating loss before
tax of $0.06 million with a revenue of $3.38 million. However, it had managed
to improve its business network and customer base in Japan and China, and also
increase its source of suppliers from neighbouring countries.

The expected recovery of the Japanese and the regional economy will benefit
the trading activities. In addition, the Group’s established network in China will
enhance our opportunity to expand our trading of timber related products into
the growing China market.
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Loyalty

Technical Wood Products

The continuing cost cutting measure by clients in view of the uncertain circumstance
resulted in the reduced demand for technical wood and technical wood flooring, thus
revenue declined 23.56% to $1.30 million (2002: $1.71 million).  As there was insufficient
volume, unit cost of production increased correspondingly, hence operating loss also
increased to $2.07 million. Internal usage of the technical wood as pallet components,
however, shown improvement compared to previous year because of the increased

acceptance of our ECR pallet. Over the year, the Group had actively
promoted our technical wood and flooring product through advertising
in the local and international media or through television program.
Together with the efforts of our established distribution channels in
Guangzhou, Shanghai, Beijing, Qingdao and Shenyang in China, the
Group has managed to gain recognition for its technical wood products.
The Group expects to receive more sales orders for technical wood from
international markets, particularly the Korea and China markets. Coupled
with the improved economic condition, the Group expects revenue from

this segment to improve in coming years.

Other Products and Other Subsidiaries

The Group’s pallet rental business has shown substantial improvement, which registered
an increase in revenue of 13.83% to $1.41 million (2002: $1.24 million) and achieved an
operating profit of $0.12 million during the year under review. Our clients are now more
receptive to the idea of using rental pallet instead of owning pallet, and we expect revenue
from this business segment to further improve.

Kim Hiap Lee Company (Pte) Limited, which mainly dealing with pallet rental business,
recorded satisfactory results with a revenue of $1.20 million and operating profit before
tax of $0.12 million.

Lian Hup Packaging Industries Sdn Bhd (LHP), which specialises in sale of wooden products,
pallet rental, and timber and packaging, registered a revenue of $3.39 million. It incurred
a loss of $0.21 million due to higher overhead cost incurred for modification of operational
process and improvement of production facilities. As LHP is still at the beginning stage of
the pallet rental business, hence it is unable to contribute to Group’s profit yet.

Siri Belukar Packaging Sdn Bhd, which is involved in manufacturing, importing and
exporting of wooden pallets and related product, registered a revenue of $6.05 million
and operating profit before tax of $0.06 million.

Operations & Financial Review
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“We will continue to enhance our competency by
emphasising on cost control, quality services, prompt
delivery to our client and improvement in productivity.”

Financial Position

The Group net asset value per share declined from 11.95 cents to 10.59 cents as at 31
December 2003, the net tangible assets for the Group was $22.36 million
(2002: $25.22 million).

The increase in the amounts due to bankers from $4.76 million to $6.89
million was due to increase in short term borrowings from bank to meet
the operating cash requirement. The negative net cash from operating
activities of $0.30 million was due to increase in operating loss and working
capital requirement arising from increase in trade creditors and trade
debtors.

Human Resource and Quality Management

By end of 2003, the Group and the Company have staff strength of 309 and 164 employees
respectively. To cater for the increase in sales of technical wood products, the wood waste
recycling plant will increase one more shift in March 2004.

The Company has its own staff training curriculum and ensures all new employees adapt
to the work environment through orientation program, inclusive of on-the-job training
program. For long-term staff development, the Company continues to sponsor selected
staff for certificate or diploma course of relevant discipline.

The Company has successfully converted its ISO 9002 certification to the new ISO 9001:2000
version since 1st January 2003 and is going to renew its ISO 14001 certification by June
2004. The Company has achieved Sony’s criteria of its Green Partner Environmental Quality
Approval Program and became a member of the scheme on 31st May 2003.

Operations & Financial Review
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Financial Summary

1999

26,598

457

1,905

148

2,053

         (6)

2,047

-

  2,047

1.20

1999

21,648

 1,549

 252

3

 168

15,100

(7,038)

 8,062

(6,126)

  25,556

25,529

27

25,556

12.78

2000

31,555

2,313

1,288

(484)

804

         (20)

784

-

 784

0.39

2000

25,634

 1,023

 268

-

 -

15,015

(7,930)

 7,085

(7,691)

  26,319

26,272

47

26,319

 13.16

2002

24,629

1,347

(1,084)

964

(120)

         37

(83)

-

 (83)

(0.04)

2002

22,636

 690

 212

-

 -

11,680

(6,681)

4,999

(3,078)

  25,459

25,431

        28

25,459

 11.95

2003

22,178

1,135

(3,143)

260

(2,883)

       20

(2,863)

-

 (2,863)

(1.34)

2003

20,529

 545

 184

-

 -

12,475

(8,268)

4,207

(2,909)

  22,556

22,548

        8

22,556

 10.59

($’000)

Revenue

Other Income

Profit / (Loss) before taxation

Taxation

Profit / (Loss) after taxation

Minority interest

Profit / (loss) after minority interest

Extraordinary items

Attributable profit / (Loss)

Earnings / (Losses) per share (Cents)

FINANCIAL POSITION

($’000)

Fixed assets

Associated company

Intangible assets

Other investments

Deferred expenditure

Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Non-current liabilities

Shareholders’ fund

Minority interest

Net assets per share (Cents)

Financial year ended 31 December

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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2001

25,010

2,654

(1,598)

(56)

(1,654)

        (19)

(1,673)

-

 (1,673)

(0.84)

2001

24,512

836

240

-

 -

14,859

(10,021)

4,838

(6,102)

  24,324

24,258

        66

24,324

12.16

NOTE:

The earnings per share are calculated based on weighted average share capital of 170,000,000 shares for FY
1999 and post-floatation share capital of 200,000,000 shares for FY2000 and FY2001, weighted average share
capital of 201,082,000 shares for FY2002 and 212,980,000 shares for FY2003.

The net assets per share is calculated based on the year end issued shares.



Significant Events in 2003

January 25, 2003

Jointly organized a product seminar with Malaysia Institute of Architects in Kuala Lumpur.

February 17, 2003

Opening of LHT Shanghai Representative Office in Shanghai, China.

May 30, 2003

Annual General Meeting of LHT Holdings Limited.

June 06 – 08, 2003

Participated in INEX Fair 2003 at Civic Plaza, Ngee Ann City.

July 28 – October 03, 2003

Jointly organized My Extraordinary Home Contest with UFM 1003.

September 12 – 17, 2003

Participated in VietBuild 2003 at Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam.

October 27 – November 01, 2003

Participated in Global Entrepolis @ Singapore at Suntec Convention & Exhibition Center.

October 30 – November 01, 2003

Participated in Enviro Asia 2003 at Singapore Expo.

December 02 – 05, 2003

Participated in IA & Logismat at Suntec Convention & Exhibition Center.

12 LHT HOLDINGS LIMITED / annual report 2003
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The Directors present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
LHT Holdings Limited (the Company) and its subsidiary companies (the Group) for the financial year ended 31 December
2003 and balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2003.

Directors of the CompanyDirectors of the CompanyDirectors of the CompanyDirectors of the CompanyDirectors of the Company

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are: -

Neo Koon Boo
Tan Kim Sing
Yap Mui Kee
Low Peng Kit
Tan Kok Hiang
Yap Mei Yen, Sally

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debenturesArrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debenturesArrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debenturesArrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debenturesArrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose
object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits through the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other corporate body.

Directors’ interest in shares and debenturesDirectors’ interest in shares and debenturesDirectors’ interest in shares and debenturesDirectors’ interest in shares and debenturesDirectors’ interest in shares and debentures

The following Directors, who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register of Directors’
shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, no interest in shares of the
Company and its subsidiary companies, except as stated below:

Ordinary shares of $0.10 eachOrdinary shares of $0.10 eachOrdinary shares of $0.10 eachOrdinary shares of $0.10 eachOrdinary shares of $0.10 each
Held in the name of DirectorsHeld in the name of DirectorsHeld in the name of DirectorsHeld in the name of DirectorsHeld in the name of Directors

or their spouse/nomineesor their spouse/nomineesor their spouse/nomineesor their spouse/nomineesor their spouse/nominees where indicated*where indicated*where indicated*where indicated*where indicated*
At theAt theAt theAt theAt the At theAt theAt theAt theAt the

beginning ofbeginning ofbeginning ofbeginning ofbeginning of end ofend ofend ofend ofend of AtAtAtAtAt
Name of DirectorsName of DirectorsName of DirectorsName of DirectorsName of Directors financial yearfinancial yearfinancial yearfinancial yearfinancial year financial yearfinancial yearfinancial yearfinancial yearfinancial year 21.1.200421.1.200421.1.200421.1.200421.1.2004

The CompanyThe CompanyThe CompanyThe CompanyThe Company

Neo Koon Boo 45,527,590 45,527,590 45,527,590
Tan Kim Sing 38,619,820 38,619,820 38,619,820

65,000* 65,000* 65,000*
Yap Mui Kee 22,124,130 22,144,130 22,144,130
Low Peng Kit 15,000 15,000 15,000
Tan Kok Hiang 25,000 25,000 25,000
Yap Mei Yen, Sally 179,000 270,000 270,000

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

Directors’ contractual benefitsDirectors’ contractual benefitsDirectors’ contractual benefitsDirectors’ contractual benefitsDirectors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the
Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a
related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which
the director has a substantial financial interest.

OptionsOptionsOptionsOptionsOptions

There is presently no share option scheme on unissued shares.

Audit CommitteeAudit CommitteeAudit CommitteeAudit CommitteeAudit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises of three members, the majority of whom are independent :-

Tan Kok Hiang (Chairman/Independent)
Low Peng Kit (Independent)
Neo Koon Boo (Non-independent)

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the requirements
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.  The functions performed are detailed in the Report on
Corporate Governance.

AuditorsAuditorsAuditorsAuditorsAuditors

Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board,

Neo Koon Boo
Managing Director

Tan Kim Sing
Director

Singapore
3 March 2004
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We, Neo Koon Boo and Tan Kim Sing, being two of the Directors of LHT Holdings Limited, do hereby state that, in
the opinion of the Directors :

(a) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated profit and loss accounts, statements of changes in equity and
consolidated cash flow statement together with the notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2003, the statements of
changes in equity of the Company and of the Group for the year then ended, and of the results of the
business and the cash flows of the Group for the year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay
its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board,

Neo Koon Boo
Managing Director

Tan Kim Sing
Director

Singapore
3 March 2004

Statement by Directors
Pursuant to Section 201(15)
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We have audited the financial statements of LHT Holdings Limited (the Company) and its subsidiary companies (the
Group) set out on pages 17 to 44 for the year ended 31 December 2003.  These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s Directors.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those Standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion,

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly
drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31
December 2003, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and of the Company for the year then
ended, and the results and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records (excluding registers) required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by
those subsidiary companies incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept
in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

We have considered the financial statements and auditors’ reports of all subsidiary companies of which we have not
acted as auditors, being financial statements included in the consolidated financial statements.  The names of those
subsidiary companies are stated in Note 3 to the financial statements.

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiary companies that have been consolidated with the
financial statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and explanations
as required by us for those purposes.

The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies were not subject to any qualification
and in respect of subsidiary companies incorporated in Singapore did not include any comment made under section
207(3) of the Act.

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
3 March 2004

Auditor’s Report
to the Members of LHT Holding Limited
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GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup
NoteNoteNoteNoteNote 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002

$’000 $’000

RevenueRevenueRevenueRevenueRevenue 4 22,178 24,629
Cost of sales (20,089) (20,577)

Gross profitGross profitGross profitGross profitGross profit 2,089 4,052
Other income 1,135 1,347
Distribution costs (1,081) (1,072)
General and administrative costs (5,173) (5,321)

Operating lossOperating lossOperating lossOperating lossOperating loss (3,030) (994)
Finance costs, net 5 (183) (273)
Share of results from associated company 70 183

Loss before income taxLoss before income taxLoss before income taxLoss before income taxLoss before income tax 6 (3,143) (1,084)
Income tax 7 260 964

Loss after income taxLoss after income taxLoss after income taxLoss after income taxLoss after income tax (2,883) (120)
Minority interest, net of income tax 20 37

Loss after income tax attributable to membersLoss after income tax attributable to membersLoss after income tax attributable to membersLoss after income tax attributable to membersLoss after income tax attributable to members
of the Company transferred to revenue reserveof the Company transferred to revenue reserveof the Company transferred to revenue reserveof the Company transferred to revenue reserveof the Company transferred to revenue reserve (2,863) (83)

Loss per shareLoss per shareLoss per shareLoss per shareLoss per share
Basic and fully diluted (cents) 8 (1.34) (0.04)

Consolidated Profit and Loss Accounts
 for the year ended 31 December 2003

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany
NoteNoteNoteNoteNote 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Intangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assets 9 184 212 175 194
Fixed assetsFixed assetsFixed assetsFixed assetsFixed assets 10 20,529 22,636 17,977 19,818
Investments -Investments -Investments -Investments -Investments -

Subsidiary companies 11 - - 2,655 2,692
Associated company 12 545 690 150 150

Current assetsCurrent assetsCurrent assetsCurrent assetsCurrent assets
Stocks 13 5,792 5,717 4,490 4,559
Trade debtors 14 4,101 3,885 3,305 2,835
Amounts due from related companies 15 337 272 2,690 2,867
Other debtors 16 446 350 776 565
Fixed deposits 31 31 - -
Cash and bank balances 1,768 1,425 1,143 1,028

12,475 11,680 12,404 11,854

Current liabilitiesCurrent liabilitiesCurrent liabilitiesCurrent liabilitiesCurrent liabilities
Trade creditors and accruals 17 3,562 3,248 2,436 2,474
Amounts due to related companies 18 75 75 1,111 1,123
Other creditors 19 556 654 271 310
Lease creditors 20 - 313 - 313
Amounts due to bankers, secured 21 4,074 2,390 4,074 2,294
Provision for income tax 1 1 - -

8,268 6,681 7,892 6,514

Net current assetsNet current assetsNet current assetsNet current assetsNet current assets 4,207 4,999 4,512 5,340
Lease creditorsLease creditorsLease creditorsLease creditorsLease creditors 20 - (636) - (636)
Amounts due to bankers, securedAmounts due to bankers, securedAmounts due to bankers, securedAmounts due to bankers, securedAmounts due to bankers, secured 21 (2,815) (2,373) (2,815) (2,373)
Deferred income taxDeferred income taxDeferred income taxDeferred income taxDeferred income tax 22 (94) (69) - -

22,556 25,459 22,654 25,185

Share capital and reservesShare capital and reservesShare capital and reservesShare capital and reservesShare capital and reserves
Share capital 23 21,298 21,298 21,298 21,298
Share premium 24 3,323 3,323 3,323 3,323
Foreign currency translation reserve (150) (130) - -
(Accumulated losses)/revenue reserve (1,923) 940 (1,967) 564

22,548 25,431 22,654 25,185
Minority interestMinority interestMinority interestMinority interestMinority interest 8 28 - -

22,556 25,459 22,654 25,185

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2003
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GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany
20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Share capitalShare capitalShare capitalShare capitalShare capital
Balance at 1 January 21,298 20,000 21,298 20,000
Issuance of ordinary shares - 1,298 - 1,298
Balance at 31 December 21,298 21,298 21,298 21,298

Share premiumShare premiumShare premiumShare premiumShare premium
Balance at 1 January 3,323 3,293 3,323 3,293
Premium on issuance of ordinary shares - 65 - 65
Expenses on issuance of ordinary shares - (35) - (35)
Balance at 31 December 3,323 3,323 3,323 3,323

Foreign currency translation reserveForeign currency translation reserveForeign currency translation reserveForeign currency translation reserveForeign currency translation reserve
Balance at 1 January (130) (58) - –
Translation differences for the year (20) (72) - –
Balance at 31 December (150) (130) - –

Revenue reservesRevenue reservesRevenue reservesRevenue reservesRevenue reserves
Balance at 1 January 940 1,023 564 310
(Loss)/profit for the year (2,863) (83) (2,531) 254
Balance at 31 December (1,923) 940 (1,967) 564

Share capital and reservesShare capital and reservesShare capital and reservesShare capital and reservesShare capital and reserves 22,548 25,431 22,654 25,185

Net change in equity from non-Net change in equity from non-Net change in equity from non-Net change in equity from non-Net change in equity from non-
owner sources excluding net lossowner sources excluding net lossowner sources excluding net lossowner sources excluding net lossowner sources excluding net loss (20) (72) - -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Equity
 for the year ended 31 December 2003



20  LHT HOLDINGS LIMITED / annual report 2003

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities:Cash flows from operating activities:Cash flows from operating activities:Cash flows from operating activities:Cash flows from operating activities:
Loss before income tax (3,143) (1,084)
Adjustments for:

Interest expense 184 276
Interest income (1) (3)
Depreciation of fixed assets 2,781 2,938
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 3 16
Amortisation of intangible assets 28 28
Share of results of associated company (70) (183)
Fixed assets written off 27 16
Currency realignment (1) (7)

Operating cash flow before reinvestment in working capitalOperating cash flow before reinvestment in working capitalOperating cash flow before reinvestment in working capitalOperating cash flow before reinvestment in working capitalOperating cash flow before reinvestment in working capital (192) 1,997
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (40) 1,016
(Increase)/decrease in stocks (75) 1,483
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 216 (1,497)

Cash (used in)/generated from operationsCash (used in)/generated from operationsCash (used in)/generated from operationsCash (used in)/generated from operationsCash (used in)/generated from operations (91) 2,999
Interest received 1 3
Interest paid (184) (266)
Income taxes paid (29) (92)
Income tax refund - 594
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activitiesNet cash (used in)/generated from operating activitiesNet cash (used in)/generated from operating activitiesNet cash (used in)/generated from operating activitiesNet cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (303) 3,238

Cash flows from investing activities:Cash flows from investing activities:Cash flows from investing activities:Cash flows from investing activities:Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for construction of fixed assets - (1,178)
Purchase of fixed assets (897) (93)
Dividends from associated companies, net 192 281
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 174 112
Net cash used in investing activitiesNet cash used in investing activitiesNet cash used in investing activitiesNet cash used in investing activitiesNet cash used in investing activities (531) (878)

Cash flows from financing activities:Cash flows from financing activities:Cash flows from financing activities:Cash flows from financing activities:Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of term loans (6,097) (314)
Term loans obtained 7,627 2,123
Repayment of hire purchase loan (949) (5,382)
Proceeds from shares issued, net of issue expenses - 1,328
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activitiesNet cash provided by/(used in) financing activitiesNet cash provided by/(used in) financing activitiesNet cash provided by/(used in) financing activitiesNet cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 581 (2,245)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (253) 115
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,349 1,234

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note (i))Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note (i))Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note (i))Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note (i))Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note (i)) 1,096 1,349

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2003

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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(i)(i)(i)(i)(i) Cash and cash equivalentsCash and cash equivalentsCash and cash equivalentsCash and cash equivalentsCash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, current accounts with banks, fixed deposits and bank
overdrafts.

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated cash flow statement comprise the following balance
sheet amounts:-

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Fixed deposits 31 31
Cash and bank balances 1,768 1,425
Bank overdraft, secured (703) (107)

1,096 1,349

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2003
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1.1.1.1.1. Corporate informationCorporate informationCorporate informationCorporate informationCorporate information

LHT Holdings Limited (the ”Company”) was incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and the registered
office is located at 27 Sungei Kadut Street 1, Singapore 729335 which is also its principal place of business.

The principal activities of the Company are those of manufacturing and trading wooden pallets and timber
related products.  The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are set out in Note 3 to the financial
statements.  There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

Details of the subsidiary companies are included in Note 3 to the financial statements.

The Group operates in two countries and the Group and Company employed 309 (2002 : 300) and 164 (2002 :
172) employees as at 31 December 2003, respectively.

2.2.2.2.2. Summary of significant accounting policiesSummary of significant accounting policiesSummary of significant accounting policiesSummary of significant accounting policiesSummary of significant accounting policies

(a)(a)(a)(a)(a) Basis of accountingBasis of accountingBasis of accountingBasis of accountingBasis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(“FRS”) as required by the Companies Act.  In previous years, the financial statements were prepared in
accordance with Singapore Statements of Accounting Standard (“SAS”).  The transition from SAS to FRS
did not result in any significant change in accounting policies.

The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Company and are consistent with those
used in the previous year.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and are presented in Singapore
dollars ($).

(b)(b)(b)(b)(b) Basis of consolidationBasis of consolidationBasis of consolidationBasis of consolidationBasis of consolidation
The accounting year of the Company and all its subsidiary companies in the Group ends on 31 December
and the consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all its
subsidiary companies.  The results of subsidiary companies acquired or disposed off during the financial
year are included in or excluded from the respective dates of acquisition or disposal, as applicable.
Intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation and the consolidated financial statements
reflect external transactions only.

When subsidiary companies are acquired, any excess of the consideration paid over the fair values of the
net identifiable assets acquired is included in goodwill on consolidation and is amortised to the profit and
loss account on a straight line basis over its estimated economic life of 5 years.

Assets, liabilities and results of overseas subsidiary companies are translated into Singapore dollars on the
basis outlined in paragraph (l) below.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2003
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2.2.2.2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(c)(c)(c)(c)(c) Subsidiary companiesSubsidiary companiesSubsidiary companiesSubsidiary companiesSubsidiary companies
A subsidiary is a company which the group, directly or indirectly, holds more than 50% of the issued share
capital, or controls more than half of the voting power, or controls the composition of the board of
directors.

Investments in subsidiary companies are stated in the financial statements of the Company at cost and
any impairment in value is recognised in the profit and loss accounts of the Company.

(d)(d)(d)(d)(d) Associated companiesAssociated companiesAssociated companiesAssociated companiesAssociated companies
An associated company is an entity not being a subsidiary, in which the Group has a long-term interest of
not less than 20% nor more than 50% of the equity and in whose financial and operating policy decisions
the Group exercises significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associated companies are recorded at cost and adjusted to recognise the
Group’s share of the net assets of the associated companies at the date of acquisition.  The excess or
deficit of the net assets of the associated companies and the consideration paid is amortised to the profit
and loss account on a straight line basis over its estimated economic life.

The Group’s share of the results of associated companies are included in the consolidated profit and loss
account.  The Group’s share of the post-acquisition reserves of associated companies are included in the
investments in the consolidated balance sheet.  Where the audited financial statements are not co-terminous
with those of the Group, the share of profits is arrived at from the last audited financial statements
available and unaudited management financial statements to the end of the accounting period.

Investments in associated companies are stated in the financial statements of the Company at cost and
any impairment in value is recognised in the profit and loss account of the Company.

(e)(e)(e)(e)(e) Revenue recognitionRevenue recognitionRevenue recognitionRevenue recognitionRevenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met
before revenue is recognised.

Sale of goods
Revenues from the sale of manufactured products are recognised upon passage of title to the customers
which generally coincides with their delivery and acceptance.

Commission
Commission revenues from the provision of agency services are recognised upon goods delivered and
invoiced by the principals to the customers on orders contracted by the Company on the principals’ behalf.

Rental income
Revenues from rental of pallets are recognised on a time apportionment basis.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2003
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2.2.2.2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(f)(f)(f)(f)(f) Fixed assetsFixed assetsFixed assetsFixed assetsFixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.  The cost of an asset comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use.
Expenditure for additions, improvements and renewals are capitalised and expenditure for maintenance
and repairs are charged to the profit and loss account.  When assets are sold or retired, their cost and
accumulated depreciation are removed from the financial statements and any gain or loss resulting from
their disposal is included in the profit and loss account.  Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged to
profit and loss account on the basis outlined in paragraph (k) below.

The carrying amounts are reviewed at each balance sheet date to assess whether they are recorded in
excess of their recoverable amounts, and if carrying values exceed these recoverable amounts, assets are
written down.

(g)(g)(g)(g)(g) Leased assetsLeased assetsLeased assetsLeased assetsLeased assets
Where assets are financed by lease agreements that give rights approximating to ownership (finance
leases), the assets are capitalised under fixed assets as if they had been purchased outright at the values
equivalent to the present values of total rental payable during the periods of the leases and the
corresponding lease commitments are included under liabilities.  Lease payments are treated as consisting
of capital and interest elements and the interest is charged to profit and loss account.  Depreciation on
the relevant assets is charged to profit and loss account on the basis outlined in paragraph (k) below.

Annual rental on operating leases is charged to profit and loss account.

(h)(h)(h)(h)(h) InvestmentsInvestmentsInvestmentsInvestmentsInvestments
Investments held on a long-term basis are stated at cost.  Provision is made for any impairment in value.

(i)(i)(i)(i)(i) StocksStocksStocksStocksStocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost of materials is determined on a first-
in-first-out basis.  In the case of work-in-progress and finished goods, cost includes direct materials, direct
labour and attributable production overheads.  Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
less anticipated cost of disposal and after making allowance for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving
items.

(j)(j)(j)(j)(j) Deferred income taxDeferred income taxDeferred income taxDeferred income taxDeferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance
sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled based
on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiary and associated companies, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2003
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2.2.2.2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(j)(j)(j)(j)(j) Deferred income tax (cont’d)Deferred income tax (cont’d)Deferred income tax (cont’d)Deferred income tax (cont’d)Deferred income tax (cont’d)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised.

Current tax and deferred tax are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly to equity.

(k)(k)(k)(k)(k) DepreciationDepreciationDepreciationDepreciationDepreciation
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off the cost of the fixed assets over their
estimated useful lives as follows: -

Leasehold properties over the lease terms ranging
 from 7 - 99 years

Plant and machinery 5 - 15 years
Office furniture, fittings and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles and forklifts 5 years
Rental pallets 3 years

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use and no
further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets.

Fixed assets under construction which include rental pallets are stated at cost and are not subjected to
depreciation charge until it is completed and in use.

(l)(l)(l)(l)(l) Foreign currenciesForeign currenciesForeign currenciesForeign currenciesForeign currencies
Transactions arising in foreign currencies during the financial year are converted at rates closely
approximating those ruling on the transaction dates.  Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are
translated into local currency at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  All exchange differences
arising from conversion are included in the profit and loss account.

For inclusion in the consolidated financial statements, all assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiary companies
are translated into Singapore dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and the
results of foreign subsidiary companies are translated into Singapore dollars at the average exchange
rates.  Exchange differences due to such currency translations are included in foreign currency translation
reserve.

(m)(m)(m)(m)(m) Intangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assets
Intangible assets include licence fee and goodwill on consolidation.

Licence fee consists of a one-time non-refundable licence fee for the use of the ‘WERZALIT-Process’ and
other intellectual property rights.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2003
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2.2.2.2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(m)(m)(m)(m)(m) Intangible assets (cont’d)Intangible assets (cont’d)Intangible assets (cont’d)Intangible assets (cont’d)Intangible assets (cont’d)
Goodwill on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of
identifiable net assets of a subsidiary or associated company at the date of acquisition.

Intangible assets are capitalised and will be amortised to the profit and loss account on the following
basis: -

Licence fee - 15 years over the licence agreement
Goodwill on consolidation - 5 years over its estimated useful economic lives

Negative goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets acquired
over the cost of acquisition.  Negative goodwill is presented in the same balance sheet classifications as
goodwill.  To the extent that negative goodwill relates to expectations of future losses and expenses that
are identified in the Group’s plan for the acquisition and can be measured reliably, but which do not
represent identifiable liabilities, that portion of negative goodwill is recognised to profit and loss account
when the future losses and expenses are recognised.  Any remaining negative goodwill, not exceeding
the fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired, is recognised in the profit and loss account over the
remaining weighted average useful life of those assets; negative goodwill in excess of the fair values of
those assets is recognised in the profit and loss account immediately.

(n)(n)(n)(n)(n) Government grantsGovernment grantsGovernment grantsGovernment grantsGovernment grants
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions of the grants
are complied with and the amount of the grant will be received.

(o)(o)(o)(o)(o) ProvisionsProvisionsProvisionsProvisionsProvisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are
reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

(p)(p)(p)(p)(p) Trade and other debtorsTrade and other debtorsTrade and other debtorsTrade and other debtorsTrade and other debtors
Trade debtors are recognised and carried at original invoiced amount less an allowance for any uncollectible
amounts.  An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.
Bad debts are written off as incurred.

Other debtors and amounts due from related companies are recognised and carried at cost less an allowance
for any uncollectible amounts.

(q)(q)(q)(q)(q) Amounts due to bankersAmounts due to bankersAmounts due to bankersAmounts due to bankersAmounts due to bankers
Amounts due to bankers are recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2003
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2.2.2.2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(r)(r)(r)(r)(r) Trade and other creditorsTrade and other creditorsTrade and other creditorsTrade and other creditorsTrade and other creditors
Liabilities for trade and other creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be
paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Group.

Payables to related companies are carried at costs.

(s)(s)(s)(s)(s) Employee benefitsEmployee benefitsEmployee benefitsEmployee benefitsEmployee benefits
Defined contribution plan

As required by law, the Company in Singapore makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the
Central Provident Fund (“CPF”).  CPF contributions are recognised as compensation expenses in the same
period as the employment that gives rise to the contribution.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  An accrual is
made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance
sheet date.

(t)(t)(t)(t)(t) Impairment of assetsImpairment of assetsImpairment of assetsImpairment of assetsImpairment of assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the Group’s assets, other than stocks, are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss account.

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s net selling price and value in use.  In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

(ii) Reversal of impairment loss
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
if no impairment loss had been recognised.  All reversals of impairment are recognised in the profit
and loss accounts.

(u)(u)(u)(u)(u) Cash and bank balancesCash and bank balancesCash and bank balancesCash and bank balancesCash and bank balances
Cash and bank balances are carried at cost.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2003
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3.3.3.3.3. Subsidiary and associated companiesSubsidiary and associated companiesSubsidiary and associated companiesSubsidiary and associated companiesSubsidiary and associated companies

The subsidiary and associated companies as at 31 December 2003 are: -

Name of companyName of companyName of companyName of companyName of company Percentage ofPercentage ofPercentage ofPercentage ofPercentage of
(Country of incorporation(Country of incorporation(Country of incorporation(Country of incorporation(Country of incorporation equity held byequity held byequity held byequity held byequity held by
and place of business)and place of business)and place of business)and place of business)and place of business) Principal activitiesPrincipal activitiesPrincipal activitiesPrincipal activitiesPrincipal activities the Groupthe Groupthe Groupthe Groupthe Group CostCostCostCostCost

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
% % $’000 $’000

Subsidiary CompaniesSubsidiary CompaniesSubsidiary CompaniesSubsidiary CompaniesSubsidiary Companies

Kim Hiap Lee Company Timber merchants, 100 100 1,649 1,649
(Pte.) Limited sawmillers and pallet
(Singapore) rental

* Lian Hup Packaging Dealers in woodproducts, 100 100 112 112
Industries Sdn. Bhd. pallets and packaging
(Malaysia)

* Siri Belukar Packaging Manufacturer, importer 100 100 877 877
Sdn. Bhd. and exporter of wooden
(Malaysia) pallets and related products

LHT Marketing Pte Ltd Timber merchants and 67 67 100 100
(Singapore) commission agents

2,738 2,738
Associated companiesAssociated companiesAssociated companiesAssociated companiesAssociated companies

# Takashima Packaging Assembly and sale 25 25 150 150
(S) Pte Ltd of packaging materials
(Singapore)

*  Audited by a member firm of Ernst & Young Global
#   Accounting year ends on 31 March.

4.4.4.4.4. RevenueRevenueRevenueRevenueRevenue
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Revenue is analysed as follows:-
Sale of goods 20,709 23,394
Commission 23 28
Pallet rental 1,446 1,207

22,178 24,629

Notes to the Financial Statements
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5.5.5.5.5. Finance costs, netFinance costs, netFinance costs, netFinance costs, netFinance costs, net
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Interest income in respect of:-
Fixed deposits 1 3

Interest expense in respect of:-
Finance leases (3) (55)
Bank overdrafts (25) (16)
Term loans (156) (205)

(184) (276)

Finance costs, net (183) (273)

6.6.6.6.6. Loss before income taxLoss before income taxLoss before income taxLoss before income taxLoss before income tax
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Loss before income tax is stated after (charging)/crediting:-
Amortisation of intangible assets (28) (28)
Auditors’ remuneration -

Statutory audit (41) (42)
Other services (44) (66)
Other auditors of subsidiary companies (7) (5)

Depreciation of fixed assets (2,781) (2,938)
Directors’ fees (110) (116)
Fixed assets written off (27) (16)
Foreign exchange loss (2) (67)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets (3) (16)
Provision for stock obsolescence (75) (118)
Staff cost -

CPF and other defined contribution plans (340) (381)
Salaries, wages and other costs (5,015) (4,603)

Write-back of doubtful trade debts 8 22

Number of Directors of the Company in remuneration bands of:-
Above $500,000 - -
$250,000 to $499,999 - -
Below $250,000 6 6

6 6

Notes to the Financial Statements
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7.7.7.7.7. Income taxIncome taxIncome taxIncome taxIncome tax
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Taxation charge in respect of profit for the year:-
  Current taxation (29) (83)
  Deferred taxation (25) (41)

(54) (124)
Write back of provision in respect of prior years:-
  Current taxation 337 15
  Deferred taxation - 1,121

337 1,136
Associated company (23) (48)

314 1,088

260 964

As at 31 December 2003, the Group has available unabsorbed capital allowances, unutilised tax losses and
investment allowances of approximately $10,455,000 (2002: $9,438,000), $897,000 (2002: $73,000) and $1,370,000
(2002: $1,370,000) respectively, available to set-off against future taxable profits subject to agreement with
the tax authorities on the relevant tax regulation.

Reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the applicable tax
rate for the years ended 31 December is as follows:-

GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup
20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Loss before income tax (3,143) (1,084)

Tax at domestic rates applicable to
  loss in the countries concerned (699) (201)
Non-deductible expenses 169 164
Deferred tax assets not recognised 610 244
Tax incentive (3) (28)
Over provision of prior year tax (337) (1,136)
Income not taxable - (7)

(260) (964)

8.8.8.8.8. Loss per shareLoss per shareLoss per shareLoss per shareLoss per share

The basic and fully diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss after income tax and attributable
to members of $2,863,000 (2002 : $83,000) by the weighted average number of 212,980,000 (2002 : 201,082,000)
ordinary shares, in issue during the financial year.  There is no dilution of earnings per share since there is no
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

- 31 December 2003
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9.9.9.9.9. Intangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assets
Goodwill onGoodwill onGoodwill onGoodwill onGoodwill on

GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup Licence feeLicence feeLicence feeLicence feeLicence fee consolidationconsolidationconsolidationconsolidationconsolidation TotalTotalTotalTotalTotal
$’000 $’000 $’000

Cost
Balance at beginning and end of year 291 45 336

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at beginning of year 97 27 124
Charge for the year 19 9 28
Balance at end of year 116 36 152

Charge for 2002 19 9 28

Net book value
At 31 December 2003 175 9 184
At 31 December 2002 194 18 212

CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany LicenceLicenceLicenceLicenceLicence
feefeefeefeefee

$’000
Cost

Balance at beginning and end of year 291

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at beginning of year 97
Charge for the year 19
Balance at end of year 116

Charge for 2002 19

Net book value
At 31 December 2003 175
At 31 December 2002 194

Notes to the Financial Statements
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10.10.10.10.10. Fixed assetsFixed assetsFixed assetsFixed assetsFixed assets
OfficeOfficeOfficeOfficeOffice MotorMotorMotorMotorMotor

PlantPlantPlantPlantPlant furniture,furniture,furniture,furniture,furniture, vehiclesvehiclesvehiclesvehiclesvehicles
LeaseholdLeaseholdLeaseholdLeaseholdLeasehold andandandandand fittings andfittings andfittings andfittings andfittings and andandandandand RentalRentalRentalRentalRental

GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup propertiespropertiespropertiespropertiesproperties machinerymachinerymachinerymachinerymachinery equipmentequipmentequipmentequipmentequipment forkliftsforkliftsforkliftsforkliftsforklifts palletspalletspalletspalletspallets TotalTotalTotalTotalTotal
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost
At beginning of year 11,908 18,584 2,457 1,182 3,141 37,272
Additions - 88 32 6 771 897
Disposals - (135) (6) - (461) (602)
Written off - - (10) - (94) (104)
Currency realignment (19) (9) (4) (1) (6) (39)
At end of year 11,889 18,528 2,469 1,187 3,351 37,424

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of year 2,824 7,370 2,051 1,086 1,305 14,636
Charge for the year 611 1,159 151 48 812 2,781
Disposals - (135) (6) - (284) (425)
Written off - - (10) - (67) (77)
Currency realignment (4) (8) (3) (1) (4) (20)
At end of year 3,431 8,386 2,183 1,133 1,762 16,895
Charge for 2002 611 1,159 300 51 817 2,938

Net book value
At 31 December 2003 8,458 10,142 286 54 1,589 20,529
At 31 December 2002 9,084 11,214 406 96 1,836 22,636

CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

Cost
At beginning of year 10,876 18,008 2,193 1,110 12 32,199
Additions - 16 6 5 48 75
Disposals - (135) (6) - (5) (146)
Written off - - (10) - (20) (30)
At end of year 10,876 17,889 2,183 1,115 35 32,098

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of year 2,650 6,902 1,811 1,014 4 12,381
Charge for the year 591 1,110 142 47 6 1,896
Disposals - (135) (6) - (1) (142)
Written off - - (10) - (4) (14)
At end of year 3,241 7,877 1,937 1,061 5 14,121
Charge for 2002 591 1,109 277 47 20 2,044

Net book value
At 31 December 2003 7,635 10,012 246 54 30 17,977
At 31 December 2002 8,226 11,106 382 96 8 19,818

Notes to the Financial Statements
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10.10.10.10.10. Fixed assets (cont’d)Fixed assets (cont’d)Fixed assets (cont’d)Fixed assets (cont’d)Fixed assets (cont’d)

(a) Included in plant and machinery, furniture and fittings, motor vehicles and forklifts are assets purchased
under hire purchase and leasing agreements with total net book value of $Nil (2002: $1,465,000) for the
Group and the Company (Note 20).

(b) Fixed assets with a net book value of $15,680,000 (2002: $16,903,000) and $14,965,000 (2002: $16,075,000)
are pledged to banks to secure banking facilities for the Group and the Company respectively (Note 21).

(c) The details of the leasehold properties are:-

LocationLocationLocationLocationLocation UsageUsageUsageUsageUsage Approximate land areaApproximate land areaApproximate land areaApproximate land areaApproximate land area TenureTenureTenureTenureTenure

27 Sungei Kadut Manufacturing and 28,287 sq m 49 years expiring
Street 1, trading wooden 2025.
Singapore 729335 pallets and timber

related products and
administrative office

44 Sungei Kadut Manufacturing technical 35,281 sq m 7 years expiring
Street 1, wood, timber related 2007.
Singapore 729349 products and flooring

material

Lot PTB 1237, Manufacturing wooden 16,587 sq m 60 years expiring
Jalan Tun Matahir 1, pallets and timber 2052.
Industries Area, related products
Phase 2
Bandar Tenggara ,
81000 Kulai, Johor,
Malaysia

No. 4, Jalan Pinang Dormitory for 721 sq m 99 years expiring
Merah 20, employees 2090.
Bandar Tenggara,
81000 Kulai, Johor,
Malaysia

No. 6, Jalan Pinang Dormitory for 726 sq m 99 years expiring
Merah 20, employees 2090.
Bandar Tenggara,
81000 Kulai, Johor,
Malaysia

No. 8, Jalan Pinang Dormitory for 753 sq m 99 years expiring
Merah 20, employees 2090.
Bandar Tenggara,
81000 Kulai, Johor,
Malaysia

Notes to the Financial Statements
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11.11.11.11.11. Investment in subsidiary companiesInvestment in subsidiary companiesInvestment in subsidiary companiesInvestment in subsidiary companiesInvestment in subsidiary companies
CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 2,738 2,738
Provision for impairment in value of investments (83) (46)

2,655 2,692

Analysis of provision for impairment:-
Balance at beginning of year 46 224
Charge/(write-back) to profit and loss account 37 (178)
Balance at end of year 83 46

Details of the subsidiary companies at 31 December 2003 are set out in Note 3.

12.12.12.12.12. Investment in associated companyInvestment in associated companyInvestment in associated companyInvestment in associated companyInvestment in associated company
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 150 150 150 150
Share of net post-acquisition reserves 395 540 - -

545 690 150 150

13.13.13.13.13. StocksStocksStocksStocksStocks
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Raw materials 2,004 1,643 757 470
Work-in-progress 2,530 3,086 2,615 3,138
Finished goods 1,258 988 1,118 951

5,792 5,717 4,490 4,559

Stocks are stated at costs and after deducting
provision for stock obsolescence of:-
Raw materials 212 224 28 43
Work-in-progress 591 509 546 509
Finished goods 41 36 88 36

844 769 662 588

Notes to the Financial Statements
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13.13.13.13.13. Stocks (cont’d)Stocks (cont’d)Stocks (cont’d)Stocks (cont’d)Stocks (cont’d)
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Analysis of provision for stock obsolescence:-
Balance at beginning of year 769 651 588 651
Charge/(write-back) to profit and loss account 75 118 74 (63)
Balance at end of year 844 769 662 588

14.14.14.14.14. Trade debtorsTrade debtorsTrade debtorsTrade debtorsTrade debtors
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade debtors are stated after
deducting provision for doubtful debts of:-
Balance at beginning of year 285 316 265 310
Write-back to profit and loss account (8) (22) (12) (36)
Written off (11) (9) (11) (9)
Balance at end of year 266 285 242 265

15.15.15.15.15. Amounts due from related companiesAmounts due from related companiesAmounts due from related companiesAmounts due from related companiesAmounts due from related companies
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Subsidiary companies
- Trade - - 2,251 2,028
- Non-trade - - - 93

Associated companies - trade 337 272 337 272
Loan to subsidiary company - - 102 474

337 272 2,690 2,867

Loan to subsidiary company bears interest ranging from 1.75% to 2.19% (2002 : 1.83% to 2.25%) per annum.
It is unsecured and has no fixed terms of repayment.  Other amounts due from related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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16.16.16.16.16. Other debtorsOther debtorsOther debtorsOther debtorsOther debtors
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Prepayments 236 51 207 44
Tax recoverable 117 187 534 439
Deposits 68 88 35 79
Sundries 25 24 - 3

446 350 776 565

17.17.17.17.17. Trade creditors and accrualsTrade creditors and accrualsTrade creditors and accrualsTrade creditors and accrualsTrade creditors and accruals
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade creditors 2,717 2,487 1,706 1,829
Trade accruals 845 761 730 645

3,562 3,248 2,436 2,474

18.18.18.18.18. Amounts due to related companiesAmounts due to related companiesAmounts due to related companiesAmounts due to related companiesAmounts due to related companies
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Subsidiary companies (trade) - - 1,036 1,048
Associated companies (non-trade) 75 75 75 75

75 75 1,111 1,123

Amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

19.19.19.19.19. Other creditorsOther creditorsOther creditorsOther creditorsOther creditors
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deposits received 91 137 146 137
Amounts due to directors of:-

Company 99 112 60 102
Subsidiary companies - 6 - -

Sundry creditors 366 399 65 71
556 654 271 310

Amounts due to directors of the Company and subsidiary companies are non-trade, unsecured, interest free
and are repayable on demand.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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20.20.20.20.20. Lease creditorsLease creditorsLease creditorsLease creditorsLease creditors
20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002

MinimumMinimumMinimumMinimumMinimum PresentPresentPresentPresentPresent MinimumMinimumMinimumMinimumMinimum PresentPresentPresentPresentPresent
leaseleaseleaseleaselease  value of value of value of value of value of leaseleaseleaseleaselease value ofvalue ofvalue ofvalue ofvalue of

Group and CompanyGroup and CompanyGroup and CompanyGroup and CompanyGroup and Company paymentpaymentpaymentpaymentpayment  payment payment payment payment payment paymentpaymentpaymentpaymentpayment   payment  payment  payment  payment  payment
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Future payments payable for
finance leases:-
Within one year - - 356 313
Within two to five years - - 667 636

- - 1,023 949
Finance charges allocated

for future years - - (74) -
- - 949 949

Current portion - - 313 313
Non-current portion - - 636 636

- - 949 949

Finance leases bear interest at Nil% (2002 : 5%) per annum.  The net book value of assets acquired under
finance leases is disclosed in Note 10.

The finance leases do not contain any escalation clauses and do not provide for contingent rents.  Lease terms
do not contain restrictions on the Group activities concerning dividends, additional debts or entering into
other lease agreements.

21.21.21.21.21. Amounts due to bankersAmounts due to bankersAmounts due to bankersAmounts due to bankersAmounts due to bankers
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Term loans, secured 5,285 4,656 5,285 4,655
Term loans, unsecured 901 - 901 -
Bank overdraft, secured 703 107 703 12

6,889 4,763 6,889 4,667
Less: Non-current portion of
term loans, secured (2,815) (2,373) (2,815) (2,373)

4,074 2,390 4,074 2,294

The term loans are secured by joint first legal mortgage over certain leasehold factory buildings and fixed
charge on plant and machinery (Note 10).

These secured term loans are repayable over a maximum period of 4 years and bear interest at rates ranging
1.2% to 2.3% (2002 : 2.1% to 6.3%) per annum.  Included in secured term loans above is a fixed rate term loan
of approximately $Nil (2002 : $1,105,000) which bears interest at 6.25% (2002 : 6.25%) per annum.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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21.21.21.21.21. Amounts due to bankers (cont’d)Amounts due to bankers (cont’d)Amounts due to bankers (cont’d)Amounts due to bankers (cont’d)Amounts due to bankers (cont’d)

The unsecured term loans are repayable over 3 months and bear interest at rates ranging from 3.4% to 3.9%
(2002 : Nil) per annum.

The bank overdrafts are secured by joint first legal mortgage over certain leasehold factory buildings (Note 10)
and bear interest at rates ranging from 5.3% to 5.5% (2002 : 5% to 6.5%) per annum.

22.22.22.22.22. Deferred income taxDeferred income taxDeferred income taxDeferred income taxDeferred income tax
GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 69 1,151 - 1,149
Provision/(write-back) to profit and loss account 25 (1,080) - (1,149)
Currency realignment - (2) - -
Balance at end of year 94 69 - -

Deferred income tax arises as a result of:-
Deferred tax liabilities:

Differences in depreciation 197 155 - -

Deferred tax assets:
Doubtful debts (2) (3) - -
Unrealised exchange differences (5) (5) - -
Unutilised capital allowance (96) (78) - -

(103) (86) - -

94 69 - -

Deferred tax assets (net) not recognised related to the following:-

Deferred tax liabilities:
Differences in depreciation 2,291 - 2,291 2,491

Deferred tax assets:
Unabsorbed capital allowances and
investment allowances (2,475) (95) (2,475) (2,319)
Doubtful debts (26) (31) (26) (31)
Stock obsolescence (146) (130) (146) (130)
Unabsorbed loss (204) (17) (153) -
Others (61) (11) (18) (11)

(2,912) (284) (2,818) (2,491)
Deferred tax assets (net) (621) (284) (527) -

Notes to the Financial Statements
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22.22.22.22.22. Deferred income tax (cont’d)Deferred income tax (cont’d)Deferred income tax (cont’d)Deferred income tax (cont’d)Deferred income tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax assets (net) have not been recognised because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the Company and its subsidiary companies can utilise the benefit therefrom.

23.23.23.23.23. Share capitalShare capitalShare capitalShare capitalShare capital
Group and CompanyGroup and CompanyGroup and CompanyGroup and CompanyGroup and Company
20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Authorised:-
Balance at beginning and end of year -

500,000,000 (2002 : 500,000,000) ordinary shares of $0.10 each 50,000 50,000

Issued and fully paid-up:-
Balance at beginning of year -

212,980,000 (2002 : 200,000,000) ordinary shares  of $0.10 each 21,298 20,000
Issuance of ordinary shares

Nil (2002 : 12,980,000) ordinary shares of $0.10 each - 1,298

  Balance at end of year -
212,980,000 (2002 : 212,980,000) ordinary shares of $0.10 each 21,298 21,298

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company.  All
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction.

24.24.24.24.24. Share premiumShare premiumShare premiumShare premiumShare premium
Group and CompanyGroup and CompanyGroup and CompanyGroup and CompanyGroup and Company
20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 3,323 3,293
Premium on issuance of ordinary shares - 65
Expenses on issuance of ordinary shares - (35)
Balance at end of year 3,323 3,323

The share premium account may be applied only for the purposes specified in the Companies Act.  The balance
is not available for distribution of dividends except in the form of shares.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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25.25.25.25.25. Information by segment on Group’s operationsInformation by segment on Group’s operationsInformation by segment on Group’s operationsInformation by segment on Group’s operationsInformation by segment on Group’s operations

Segment informationSegment informationSegment informationSegment informationSegment information

The Group’s operating businesses are organised and managed into 3 main operating segments, namely pallet/
packaging, timber related products and technical wood products.  The pallet/packaging segment is mainly
engaged in the manufacture and supply of wooden pallets and cases for the packing of industrial products.
The timber related products segment is mainly engaged in the trading of raw timber related products.  The
technical wood products segment is mainly engaged in the manufacture of technical wood, technical wood
flooring and wood waste collection.  Other segment relates to pallet rental, commission agent, and warehouse
rental.

Segment accounting policies are the same as the policies described in Note 2.  Inter-segment sales and transfers
are carried out on arms’ length basis.  Segment assets consist primarily of fixed assets, current assets, intangibles
and exclude income bearing assets, income tax assets and investments.  Segment liabilities comprise mainly of
operating liabilities and exclude interest-bearing liabilities and income tax liabilities.

Financial information about business segments is presented as follows:-

TimberTimberTimberTimberTimber TechnicalTechnicalTechnicalTechnicalTechnical AdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustments

Pallet/Pallet/Pallet/Pallet/Pallet/ RelatedRelatedRelatedRelatedRelated WoodWoodWoodWoodWood andandandandand

PackagingPackagingPackagingPackagingPackaging  Products Products Products Products Products  Products Products Products Products Products OthersOthersOthersOthersOthers  elimination elimination elimination elimination elimination ConsolidatedConsolidatedConsolidatedConsolidatedConsolidated

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales to external

customers 14,847 16,365 4,620 5,322 1,304 1,706 1,407 1,236 - - 22,178 24,629

Inter-segment sales 6,595 8,051 2,736 2,486 785 1,483 - 38 (10,116) (12,058) - -

Total revenue 21,442 24,416 7,356 7,808 2,089 3,189 1,407 1,274 (10,116) (12,058) 22,178 24,629

Segment results (945) 512 139 53 (2,069) (1,383) 116 247 (271) (423) (3,030) (994)

Finance costs, net (183) (273)

Share of results from

associated company 70 183 - - - - - - - - 70 183

Loss before income tax (3,143) (1,084)

Income tax 260 964

Minority interest,

net of income tax 20 37

Net loss after income tax (2,863) (83)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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25.25.25.25.25. Information by segment on Group’s operations (cont’d)Information by segment on Group’s operations (cont’d)Information by segment on Group’s operations (cont’d)Information by segment on Group’s operations (cont’d)Information by segment on Group’s operations (cont’d)

Segment information (cont’d)Segment information (cont’d)Segment information (cont’d)Segment information (cont’d)Segment information (cont’d)

TimberTimberTimberTimberTimber TechnicalTechnicalTechnicalTechnicalTechnical AdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustments
Pallet/Pallet/Pallet/Pallet/Pallet/ RelatedRelatedRelatedRelatedRelated WoodWoodWoodWoodWood andandandandand

PackagingPackagingPackagingPackagingPackaging  Products Products Products Products Products  Products Products Products Products Products OthersOthersOthersOthersOthers  elimination elimination elimination elimination elimination ConsolidatedConsolidatedConsolidatedConsolidatedConsolidated
20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Segment assets 14,107 13,365 2,397 2,634 13,529 14,523 3,316 3,949 (278) (130) 33,071 34,341
Investment in

associated company 545 690 - - - - - - - - 545 690
Unallocated assets 117 187

Total assets 33,733 35,218

Segment liabilities 3,291 2,931 600 665 306 198 36 228 (40) (45) 4,193 3,977
Unallocated liabilities 6,984 5,782

Total liabilities 11,177 9,759

Other segment information

Capital expenditures 15 86 94 2 16 - 772 1,183 - - 897 1,271
Depreciation 637 823 21 29 1,031 1,021 1,092 1,065 - - 2,781 2,938
Amortisation - - - - 28 28 - - - - 28 28
Non-cash expense - - - - 75 118 - - - - 75 118

Geographical segmentGeographical segmentGeographical segmentGeographical segmentGeographical segment

Segment revenue is based on geographical location of the assets producing the revenue.  Segment assets are
based on geographical location of the Group’s assets.

AdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustments
SingaporeSingaporeSingaporeSingaporeSingapore MalaysiaMalaysiaMalaysiaMalaysiaMalaysia and and and and and EliminationsEliminationsEliminationsEliminationsEliminations ConsolidatedConsolidatedConsolidatedConsolidatedConsolidated

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales to external customers 21,517 24,349 661 280 - - 22,178 24,629
Inter-segment sales 1,342 2,800 8,774 9,258 (10,116) (12,058) - -
Total revenue 22,859 27,149 9,435 9,538 (10,116) (12,058) 22,178 24,629

Other segment information

Segment assets 29,909 31,539 3,440 2,932 (278) (130) 33,071 34,341
Investment in

associated company 545 690 - - - - 545 690
Unallocated assets 117 187

Total assets 33,733 35,218
Capital expenditures 505 944 392 327 - - 897 1,271
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26.26.26.26.26. Operating lease commitmentsOperating lease commitmentsOperating lease commitmentsOperating lease commitmentsOperating lease commitments

The Group and the Company lease premises, machinery and equipment under non-cancellable lease
arrangements.  Future minimum rentals under non-cancellable leases as of 31 December are as follows:

GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany
20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002 20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within 1 year 877 913 718 712
Within 2 to 5 years 2,613 3,221 2,485 3,039
More than 5 years 4,630 4,910 4,630 4,910

8,120 9,044 7,833 8,661

Rental expense (principally for premises, machinery and equipment) for the year ended 31 December 2003 was
$998,000 (2002 : $1,045,000) and $754,000 (2002 : $798,000) for the Group and Company, respectively.

The above operating leases do not contain any escalation clauses and do not provide for contingent rents.
Lease terms do not contain restrictions on Group activities concerning dividends, additional debt or entering
into other leasing agreement.  Certain leases include renewal options for additional lease periods of 20 years
and at rental rates based on prevailing market rates.

27.27.27.27.27. Significant related party transactionsSignificant related party transactionsSignificant related party transactionsSignificant related party transactionsSignificant related party transactions

Significant transactions are entered with related parties and the effect of these transactions on the basis
determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements:-

GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup
20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
$’000 $’000

Associated company:-
Trade sales 1,550 2,025
Retainer fees received 120 120

Directors’, executive officers’ and director-related
employees remuneration:-
Directors’ remuneration (390) (401)
Executive officers’ remuneration (345) (391)
Director related employees remuneration (404) (405)

Other transactions with related parties are disclosed in Notes 6, 15, 18 and 19.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2003
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28.28.28.28.28. Financial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instruments

(a) Financial risk management

The Group’s and the Company’s activities are affected by various financial risks, including the effects of
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates as described in the ensuing paragraphs.
The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates arises mainly from the Group’s bank
borrowings, lease commitments and cash deposits placed with financial institutions.  For interest
income from the cash deposits, the Group managed the interest rate risks by placing cash deposits
with reputable financial institutions on varying maturities and interest rate terms.  For interest
expenses on the Group’s borrowings, the Group mitigates its interest exposure by fixing interest
rates over longer duration through long-term borrowings.

(ii) Liquidity risk

The Group’s financing activities are managed centrally by maintaining an adequate level of cash
and cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations.  Long-term borrowing is a preferred source
of financing to ensure continuity of funding.  The Group also ensures availability of bank credit lines
to address any short-term funding requirement.

The Group’s surplus funds are also managed centrally by placing them with reputable financial
institutions.

(iii) Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from the risk of counterparties defaulting on the terms of their agreements.
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade debtors and other debtors represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group monitors the exposure to credit risk on an ongoing basis and credit evaluations are
performed on customers requiring credit over a certain amount.  Cash terms, advance payments, or
letters of credit are required for customers of lower credit standing.  The credit risk on balances of
cash and cash equivalents is low as these balances are placed with reputable financial institutions.

(iv) Foreign currency risk

The Group manages its foreign currency exchange risk by matching the resulting cash flows from its
sales and purchases of goods, primarily in US dollars without hedging its risk by using forward
exchange contract.  As at the balance sheet date, the Group’s net currency exposures are insignificant.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2003
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28.28.28.28.28. Financial instruments (cont’d)Financial instruments (cont’d)Financial instruments (cont’d)Financial instruments (cont’d)Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b)(b)(b)(b)(b) Fair value of financial instrumentsFair value of financial instrumentsFair value of financial instrumentsFair value of financial instrumentsFair value of financial instruments

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instruments:

(i) Cash and cash equivalents, short term bank borrowings, trade and other debtors, and trade and
other creditors

The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying amounts at the balance
sheet date because of their short-term maturity.

(ii) Related party balances

No disclosure of fair value is made for related party balances (including associated, related and
subsidiary companies and any other related parties) which are in the nature of loans as it is not
practicable to determine their fair values with sufficient reliability since these balances have no
fixed terms of repayment.

(iii) Long-term bank borrowings

The fair values of the long term bank borrowings is determined by discounting the relevant cash
flow using current interest rates for similar instruments at balance sheet date.

There are no significant differences between the fair values and the carrying amounts of floating
rate long-term borrowings.  The fair value of the fixed rate long-term borrowing of $1,105,000 as at
31 December 2002 was approximately $1,128,000.

29.29.29.29.29. Authorisation of financial statementsAuthorisation of financial statementsAuthorisation of financial statementsAuthorisation of financial statementsAuthorisation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of LHT Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 December 2003 were
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 3 March 2004.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2003
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Supplementary Information
IN COMPLIANCE WITH SGX-ST

11111 MATERIAL CONTRACT [Listing Rule 1207(8)]MATERIAL CONTRACT [Listing Rule 1207(8)]MATERIAL CONTRACT [Listing Rule 1207(8)]MATERIAL CONTRACT [Listing Rule 1207(8)]MATERIAL CONTRACT [Listing Rule 1207(8)]

No material contracts to which the Company or any subsidiary company is a party involving the CEO, each
director, or each controlling shareholder, and are still subsisted at the end of the financial year, or if not
subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

22222 INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTION  [Listing Rule Chapter 9]INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTION  [Listing Rule Chapter 9]INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTION  [Listing Rule Chapter 9]INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTION  [Listing Rule Chapter 9]INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTION  [Listing Rule Chapter 9]

In compliance with chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (“the Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited, there were no transactions with interested person (as defined in the Manual) for the financial year
ended 31 December 2003 that exceeded the stipulated threshold. During the year, the aggregate amount of
interested person transactions conducted was S$342,269.00, excluding transactions less than $100,000 as shown
in the table below.

Name  of
Interested Person

Hwee Hong $342,269.00 0
Transport Trading
Pte Ltd
Total $342,269.00 0

33333 RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND PROCESS [Listing Rule 1207(4)(d)]RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND PROCESS [Listing Rule 1207(4)(d)]RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND PROCESS [Listing Rule 1207(4)(d)]RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND PROCESS [Listing Rule 1207(4)(d)]RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND PROCESS [Listing Rule 1207(4)(d)]

3.13.13.13.13.1 Business Risk ManagementBusiness Risk ManagementBusiness Risk ManagementBusiness Risk ManagementBusiness Risk Management

The Group’s market for its pallets and packaging products are predominantly in Singapore where it
serves a broad range of industry segments and the demand for the Group’s wooden pallets and
packaging products will depend on the cumulative level of business activities in all these industries in
Singapore. As such, the Group’s business will be affected by the economic fluctuation in Singapore.

The Group further expects the establishment of its representative office and appointment of marketing
agents overseas to improve the international market for Technical Wood products, wooden pallets
and packaging products, but this is subject to the effect of global economy.

Aggregate value of all interested person
transactions during the financial year under
review (excluding transactions less than
$100,000 and transactions conducted under
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested person
transactions conducted under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding
transactions less than $100,000)
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3.23.23.23.23.2 Raw Material Risk ManagementRaw Material Risk ManagementRaw Material Risk ManagementRaw Material Risk ManagementRaw Material Risk Management

As most of the Group’s raw timber for the pallet and packaging products is sourced from overseas,
particularly from Malaysia, the Group’s cost of raw timber will be affected by fluctuation in the
market price of raw timber which will affect our production cost. In order to contain the impact of
this fluctuation, the Group has moved its production base to Malaysia and has direct access to the
timber suppliers. The effect of an increase in timber prices will be further mitigated by the Group’s
ability to recycle waste wood into Technical Wood as a substitute for timber. However, this is still
subject to the gradual market’s acceptance of Technical Wood.

3.33.33.33.33.3 Human Resource ManagementHuman Resource ManagementHuman Resource ManagementHuman Resource ManagementHuman Resource Management

The Company recognises the importance of people and employee’s moral within the organisation. It
has in place a systematic process in ensuring that the employees are competitively rewarded and
incentives and bonus are accorded based on the performance of the companies within the Group
and the grade of the employees.

3.43.43.43.43.4 Safety and Emergency Risk ManagementSafety and Emergency Risk ManagementSafety and Emergency Risk ManagementSafety and Emergency Risk ManagementSafety and Emergency Risk Management

The Company strongly emphasises the importance of fire and safety in this hazardous wood industry,
and of providing uninterrupted flow of products and services.      The Company has established Fire and
Safety Committees for ensuring the proper prevention and handling of accident and there is close
coordination between various committees in emergency response and preparedness. The Company
is one of the cluster leaders of Sungei Kadut and Kranji Industrial Estates in the self-help scheme for
the handling of fire emergency.

3.53.53.53.53.5 Financial Risk ManagementFinancial Risk ManagementFinancial Risk ManagementFinancial Risk ManagementFinancial Risk Management

The Group’s financial risks are mainly consisted of interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk, and
foreign currency risk which are arised from the Group’s financial instruments. The details of the
management of these risks are stated in page 43, Note 28 of the Notes to the Financial Statements -
31 December 2003.

Supplementary Information
IN COMPLIANCE WITH SGX-ST
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LHT Holdings Ltd (the “CompanyCompanyCompanyCompanyCompany”) is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “GroupGroupGroupGroupGroup”). Good corporate governance establishes and maintains an ethical
environment in the Group, which strives to enhance the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“ShareholdersShareholdersShareholdersShareholdersShareholders”). This Report describes the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with specific
reference to the Code of Corporate Governance (the “CodeCodeCodeCodeCode”). For ease of reference, the relevant provisions of the
Code under discussion are in italics.  However, other sections of this Report may also have an impact on the
disclosures as this Report is meant to be read as a whole, instead of being compartmentalised under the different
principles of the Code.

1.1.1.1.1. Board of Directors (the “Board”)Board of Directors (the “Board”)Board of Directors (the “Board”)Board of Directors (the “Board”)Board of Directors (the “Board”)

Principle 1: The Board’s conduct of its affairsPrinciple 1: The Board’s conduct of its affairsPrinciple 1: The Board’s conduct of its affairsPrinciple 1: The Board’s conduct of its affairsPrinciple 1: The Board’s conduct of its affairs
Principle 2: Board Composition and BalancePrinciple 2: Board Composition and BalancePrinciple 2: Board Composition and BalancePrinciple 2: Board Composition and BalancePrinciple 2: Board Composition and Balance
The Board comprises six directors, three executive directors, one alternate executive director to Ms Yap Mui Kee
and two are independent and non-executive directors. The Board’s principal functions include, among others,
supervising the overall management of the business and affairs of the Group and approving the Group’s corporate
and strategic policies and directions. Matters which are specifically reserved for the approval of the Board include,
among others, any material acquisitions and disposals of assets and major undertakings (other than in the ordinary
course of business).

The Board is aware that the Company is encouraged to amend the Articles of Association to provide for telephonic
and video-conferencing meetings. But at present the Board has met to discharge the Board’s matters effectively
and may look into the practicality of this recommendation.

The Company has a training budget to fund the existing directors’ participation at industry conferences and seminars,
and attendance at any course of instruction/training programme in connection with their duties as directors. This
budget may be utilised by each and every director subject to approval by the Managing Director. The Company has
adopted a policy that  welcomes Directors to request for  explanations, briefings or informal discussions on any
aspects of the Company’s operations or business issues from the management. The Managing Director will make
the necessary arrangements for the briefings, informal discussions or explanations required by the Directors.

Certain functions have been delegated to various board committees, namely, the Audit Committee (the “ACACACACAC”), the
Nominating Committee (the “NCNCNCNCNC”) and the Remuneration Committee (the “RCRCRCRCRC”). The number of Board, AC, NC
and RC meetings held in FY2003 and the attendance of each Board member at those meetings were as follows:-

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Attendance at Board and Board Committee MeetingsDirectors’ Attendance at Board and Board Committee MeetingsDirectors’ Attendance at Board and Board Committee MeetingsDirectors’ Attendance at Board and Board Committee MeetingsDirectors’ Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings

BoardBoardBoardBoardBoard AuditAuditAuditAuditAudit NominatingNominatingNominatingNominatingNominating RemunerationRemunerationRemunerationRemunerationRemuneration
MeetingMeetingMeetingMeetingMeeting CommitteeCommitteeCommitteeCommitteeCommittee  Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee CommitteeCommitteeCommitteeCommitteeCommittee

No of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings

Name held Attended held Attended held Attended  held Attended

Neo Koon Boo
(Managing Director) 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 1

Tan Kim Sing
(Executive Director) 2 2 2 2# 2 2# 1 1#

Yap Mui Kee**
(Executive Director) 2 2 2 2# 2 2# 1 1#

Tan Kok Hiang
(Non Executive,

Independent Director) 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 1

Low Peng Kit
(Non Executive,

Independent Director) 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 1

Sally Yap Mei Yen**
(Alternate Director to

Yap Mui Kee / Joint

Company Secretary) 2 2 2 2# 2 2# 1 1#

# Non-member of the Committee. By invitation from the Chairman of the committees to attend the meetings.
** Yap Mui Kee and Sally Yap Mei Yen are sisters

Principle 3: Role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)Principle 3: Role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)Principle 3: Role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)Principle 3: Role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)Principle 3: Role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)
Mr. Neo Koon Boo (“Mr. NeoMr. NeoMr. NeoMr. NeoMr. Neo”) is currently the chairman of the Board (the “ChairmanChairmanChairmanChairmanChairman”) and the managing director
of the Company (the “Managing DirectorManaging DirectorManaging DirectorManaging DirectorManaging Director”). The Board has not adopted the recommendation of the Code to have
separate directors appointed as the Chairman and the Managing Director. This is because the Board is of the view
that there exist a team of strong independent, non-executive Directors  on the Board to enable the exercise of
unbiased and  objective judgment on corporate affairs of the Group by members of the Board, taking into account
factors such as the number of non-executive and independent directors on the Board, as well as the size and scope
of the affairs and operations of the Group.

As  Chairman, Mr. Neo is responsible for, among others,

(1) Exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of information between the management
of the Company (the “ManagementManagementManagementManagementManagement”) and the Board.

(2) Schedule meetings that enable the Board to perform its duties responsibly with no disruption to the operation
of the Company.
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(3) Assist in ensuring the compliance with Company’s guideline on governance.

(4) Prepare meeting agendas

The Managing Director reviews most board papers before they are presented to the Board and ensures that board
members are provided with complete, adequate and timely information.  As a general rule, board papers are sent
to directors at least three days before the date of meeting to enable Directors to prepare for the meeting.

Principle 6: Access to informationPrinciple 6: Access to informationPrinciple 6: Access to informationPrinciple 6: Access to informationPrinciple 6: Access to information
In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfil its responsibilities, management provides the board members
with the monthly management accounts and other financial statements within 20 days after the month-end. A
monthly report of the Company’s activities is also provided to the Board. The Directors have been given easy access
to  the Company’s senior management and company secretaries. To facilitate access, Board members have been
provided with phone numbers and emails particulars of the Company’s senior management and company secretaries.
Should the Directors, whether singly or collectively need independent professional advice, the company secretaries
will, upon direction by the Board, appoint a professional advisor selected by the group or the individual, and
approved by the Managing Director to render the advice. The cost of such professional advice will be borne by the
Company.

In FY2003, the company secretaries attended two AC meetings, two Board meetings, two NC meeting and one RC
meeting. The company secretaries assisted the Board in ensuring that the Board procedures and the rules and
regulations relating thereto were complied with.

Board CommitteesBoard CommitteesBoard CommitteesBoard CommitteesBoard Committees

Nominating Committee (“NC”)Nominating Committee (“NC”)Nominating Committee (“NC”)Nominating Committee (“NC”)Nominating Committee (“NC”)
Principle 4: Board MembershipPrinciple 4: Board MembershipPrinciple 4: Board MembershipPrinciple 4: Board MembershipPrinciple 4: Board Membership
The NC was set up on 22 March 2002. The NC comprises three directors, two (including the chairman of the NC)
non-executive and independent directors  and one executive director. The chairman of the NC is Mr. Low Peng Kit.
The NC has adopted specific written terms of reference. According to the terms of reference of the NC, the members
of the NC are responsible:-

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new executive and non-executive directors,
including making recommendations to the composition of the Board generally and the balance between
executive and non-executive directors appointed to the Board.

(ii) to review the Board structure, size and composition and make recommendations to the Board with regards
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary.

(iii) to be responsible for identifying and nominating candidates for the approval of the Board, to fill Board
vacancies as and when they arise as well as put in place plans for succession, in particular for the Chairperson
and Chief Executive.

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board for the continuation (or not) in service of any director who has
reached the age of 70 (seventy).

Corporate Governance Report
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(v) to recommend directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election.

(vi) to have due regard to the principles of governance and code of best practice.

(vii) to liaise with the Board in relation to the preparation of the Committee’s report to shareholders as required.

The NC also ensures that the Board as a whole, possesses the core competencies required by the Code. The NC
adopted the Code’s definition on what constitutes an independent director under guidance note 2.1 (a) to (d) of
the Code.

For FY2003, the NC is of the view that:-

(a) a majority of  the  directors of the NC are independent (as defined in the Code) and able to exercise objective
judgement on corporate affairs of the Group independently from Management;

(b) there is no individual or small group of individuals on the Board who dominate the Board’s decision making
process and the Board is of the view that there is an adequate process for the appointment of new directors.

(c) the Board as a whole, possesses core competencies required for the effective conduct of the affairs and
operations of the Group; and

(d) the current size of the Board is adequate for the purposes of the Group.

The Company’s Article 104Article 104Article 104Article 104Article 104 provides that one-third of the directors for the time being (other than the Managing
Director), or if the number is not three or a multiple of three, the nearest one-third, shall retire from office,
provided always that all directors (other than the Managing Director) shall retire from office at least once every
three years.

Article 105Article 105Article 105Article 105Article 105 provides that a retiring director shall be eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting at which
he retires.

Article 108Article 108Article 108Article 108Article 108 provides that any director appointed during the financial year, shall hold such office until the next
annual general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible for re-election at such general meeting.

Presently, the Executive Directors and Non Executive, Independent Directors (the “Directors”) of the company
hold board representations in companies which are not within the Group, the Board is of the view that such
multiple board representations of the Directors do not hinder their abilities to carry out their duties as directors of
the Company.  Further the Board is also of the view that such multiple board representations of the Directors
benefit the Group, as the Directors  are able to bring with them the experience and knowledge obtained from
such board representations in other companies.

Corporate Governance Report
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The information of Guidance Note 4.5 of the Code  Guidance Note 4.5 of the Code  Guidance Note 4.5 of the Code  Guidance Note 4.5 of the Code  Guidance Note 4.5 of the Code is tabled as follows:

Name of Director Neo Koon Boo  (Managing Director)

Shareholding in the Company (as at 18 March 2004) 45,527,590 Shares (as set out on page 60 of this report)

Board Committees Served Neo Koon Boo is a member of Audit Committee,
Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee

Date of first appointment as director 29 August 1980

Date of last re-election as Director Not Applicable. Neo Koon Boo is the Managing Director
of the Company since its incorporation.  As such, he is
not subject to re-election according to Article 104 as set
out above

Present Directorships in other listed companies None

Past Directorships in other listed companies None
(within the last 3 years)

Name of Director Tan Kim Sing (Executive Director)

Shareholding in the Company (as at 18 March 2004) 38,619,820 Shares (as set out on page 60 of this report)
Tan Kim Sing is deemed to be interested in the
65,000 shares held by his spouse, Mdm Ng Siew Yeng

Board Committees Served None

Date of first appointment as director 29 August 1980

Date of last re-election as Director 9 June 2000 (Recommended by Nominating Committee
for re-election during the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting to be scheduled on 30 April 2004)

Present Directorships in other listed companies None

Past Directorships in other listed companies None

(within the last 3 years)

Name of Director Yap Mui Kee (Executive Director)

Shareholding in the Company (as at 18 March 2004) 22,144,130 Shares  (as set out on page 60 of this report)

Board Committees Served None

Date of first appointment as director 02 January 1988

Date of last re-election as Director 29 June 2001

Present Directorships in other listed companies None

Past Directorships in other listed companies None
(within the last 3 years)
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Name of Director Tan Kok Hiang (Non Executive, Independent Director)

Shareholding in the Company (as at 18 March 2004) 25,000 Shares

Board Committees Served Tan Kok Hiang is a Chairman of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee and Member of Nominating
Committee

Date of first appointment as director 01 July 1999

Date of last re-election as Director 30 May 2003

Present Directorships in other listed companies Transit-Mixed Concrete Ltd -

(Non Executive, Independent Director)

Leong Hin Holdings Ltd -

(Non Executive, Independent Director)

Food Junction Holdings Limited -

(Non Executive, Independent Director)

JEL Corporation (Holdings) Limited -
(Non-Executive, Independent Director)

Viz Branz Limited  - (Executive Director)

Past Directorships in other listed companies None
(within the last 3 years)

Name of Director Low Peng Kit (Non Executive, Independent Director)

Shareholding in the Company (as at 18 March 2004) 15,000 Shares

Board Committees Served Low Peng Kit is a Chairman of Nominating Committee,
Member of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee

Date of first appointment as director 01 July 1999

Date of last re-election as Director 29 May 2002

Present Directorships in other listed companies None

Past Directorships in other listed companies None
(within the last 3 years)

Name of Alternate Director Sally Yap Mei Yen  (Alternate Director to Yap Mui Kee /
Joint Company Secretary)

Shareholding in the Company (as at 18 March 2004) 270,000 Shares

Board Committees Served Joint Company Secretary to the Audit Committee,
Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee

Date of first appointment as director 20 July 1998

Date of last re-election as Director 29 June 2001 (followed the appointer above)

Present Directorships in other listed companies None

Past Directorships in other listed companies None
(within the last 3 years)
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Principle 5:  Board PerformancePrinciple 5:  Board PerformancePrinciple 5:  Board PerformancePrinciple 5:  Board PerformancePrinciple 5:  Board Performance
As stated above, one of the terms of reference of the NC is to review and evaluate the performance of each and
every director on the Board  for each financial year.

The review parameters for evaluating each director include, among others, the following:-

(a) attendance at board/committee meetings;

(b) participation at meetings;

(c) involvement in management; and

(d) availability for consultation and advice, when required.

The Board is of the view that the performance of the Company’s share price alone does not necessarily give a good
indication of the performance of the Company and hence the performance of the Board as a whole. Instead, the
Board has identified the Group’s revenue Group’s revenue Group’s revenue Group’s revenue Group’s revenue and profit before taxprofit before taxprofit before taxprofit before taxprofit before tax to be a better performance indicator  to assess
the performance of the Board.

Audit Committee (“AC”)Audit Committee (“AC”)Audit Committee (“AC”)Audit Committee (“AC”)Audit Committee (“AC”)
Principle 11: Audit CommitteePrinciple 11: Audit CommitteePrinciple 11: Audit CommitteePrinciple 11: Audit CommitteePrinciple 11: Audit Committee
The AC comprises three members, two of whom (including the chairman of the AC) are independent and non-
executive directors. The Board has not adopted the recommendation of the Code  wherein AC should comprise at
least three directors, all non-executive, and  majority of whom, including the Chairman, should be independent.
This is because the Board is of the view that there is already a sufficiently strong independent representation  on
the AC to enable them to exercise their independent and  objective judgement in  discharging their responsibilities.
The chairman of the AC is Mr. Tan Kok Hiang. The AC has adopted written terms of reference.  The members of the
AC have many years of experience in the areas of accounting and finance. The Board considers  the current members
of the AC appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities. In FY2003, the AC met twice. Details of the
members’ attendance at AC meetings in FY2003 are provided in page 48 of this Report.

On 24 April 2003, Singapore Exchange Limited (SGX) announced that in line with the Government’s changes to the
quarterly reporting requirement, it will, with immediate effect, waive mandatory quarterly reporting for listed
companies with market capitalisation of S$75 million and below, based on the 31 March 2003 market capitalisation
data published by SGX.  The quarterly reporting requirements for these companies will be reviewed in mid-2005..etc.

As at 31 March 2003, the Company recorded a market capitalisation of S$10.649 million (source: http://www.sgx.com).
The Company will not adopt quarterly reporting for the time being.
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The AC performed the following functions in FY2003:-

(a)(a)(a)(a)(a) External AuditorsExternal AuditorsExternal AuditorsExternal AuditorsExternal Auditors
The Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young, carried out, as part of their statutory audit, a review of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, risks
management and interested person transactions (as defined in the Listing Manual) on an annual basis. Any material
non-compliance, internal control weaknesses and interested person transactions arising from the review are reported
by the external auditors to the AC on a half-yearly basis.

For FY2003, the AC reviewed together with the external auditors:-

(i) the audit plan (including, among others, the nature and scope of the audit before the audit commenced and
the risk management issues of the Group);

(ii) their evaluation of the system of internal controls (including, among others, financial, operational and
compliance controls);

(iii) their audit report;

(iv) the assistance given to them by the  officers of the Company;

(v) To meet the Auditors in the absence of Management, at least once a year.

(vi) the consolidated balance-sheet and profit and loss account of the Company; and

The AC shall continue to monitor the scope and results of the external audit, its cost effectiveness, its  independence
and objectivity of the external auditors. Thereafter to its recommendations to the Board and the Company regarding
the appointment, re-appointment or removal of the external auditors.

(b)(b)(b)(b)(b) Review of financial statementsReview of financial statementsReview of financial statementsReview of financial statementsReview of financial statements
For FY2003, the AC reviewed the half-yearly and full year financial statements of the Company and the Group,
including announcements relating thereto, to Shareholders and the SGX-ST.

(c)(c)(c)(c)(c) Review of interested person transactionsReview of interested person transactionsReview of interested person transactionsReview of interested person transactionsReview of interested person transactions
The AC has reviewed interested person transactions of the Group for FY2003 and reported its findings to the
Board. Please refer to page 45 of the annual report for further details on the interested person transactions of the
Group for FY2003.
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Principle 12: Internal ControlsPrinciple 12: Internal ControlsPrinciple 12: Internal ControlsPrinciple 12: Internal ControlsPrinciple 12: Internal Controls
Based on its review of internal controls, the AC is of the view that there are adequate internal controls in the
Group to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition
transaction are properly authorised.

Principle 13: Internal Audit FunctionPrinciple 13: Internal Audit FunctionPrinciple 13: Internal Audit FunctionPrinciple 13: Internal Audit FunctionPrinciple 13: Internal Audit Function
Internal Audit Function for the Group is performed by H.T. Khoo & Company, Certified Public Accountants. The
internal auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee and assists the Audit Committee in monitoring and assessing
the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls.  The internal auditor also assists the Group’s and
subsidiaries’ management in identifying operational and business risks and provides recommendations to address
these risks.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings that were fully attended by all the members during the financial year
ended 2003.  Details of the members’ attendance at AC meetings in FY2003 are provided in page 48 of this report.

In the opinion of the Directors, LHT Holdings Limited complies with the Best Practices Guide adopted.

The Committee has full access to and co-operation from the Management of the Company and also has full discretion
to invite any Director or Executive Officer to attend its meeting.  The auditor has unrestricted access to the Audit
Committee.  The Audit Committee has reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its function properly.

The Audit Committee may examine whatever aspects it deems appropriate of the Group’s financial affairs, its
audits and its exposure to risks of a regulatory or legal nature.  It keeps under review the effectiveness of LHT
Holdings Limited’s system of accounting and internal financial controls, for which the Directors are responsible.  It
also keeps under review the Company’s programme to monitor compliance with its legal regulatory and contractual
obligations.

Audit Committee ConfirmationAudit Committee ConfirmationAudit Committee ConfirmationAudit Committee ConfirmationAudit Committee Confirmation

The Amended Listing Rule 1207(6)(b)The Amended Listing Rule 1207(6)(b)The Amended Listing Rule 1207(6)(b)The Amended Listing Rule 1207(6)(b)The Amended Listing Rule 1207(6)(b)
The Audit Committee has reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors as shown in Notes to the Financial
Statements - 31 December 2003, page 29, Note 6 page 29, Note 6 page 29, Note 6 page 29, Note 6 page 29, Note 6 of the Annual Report, Auditors’ Remuneration - other services,
and confirms that these non-audit services would not affect the independence of the auditors.

Remuneration Committee (“RC”)Remuneration Committee (“RC”)Remuneration Committee (“RC”)Remuneration Committee (“RC”)Remuneration Committee (“RC”)
Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration PoliciesPrinciple 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration PoliciesPrinciple 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration PoliciesPrinciple 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration PoliciesPrinciple 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
The RC was set up on 22 March 2002. The RC comprises three directors, two of whom (including the chairman of
the NC) are non-executive and independent and one executive director. The Chairman of the RC is Mr. Tan Kok
Hiang. The RC has adopted specific written terms of reference.

The chairman of the RC, Mr. Tan, is experienced in capital markets functions, corporate finance, asset management,
financial investments, accounting and is also knowledgeable in the field of executive compensation.
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According to the terms of reference of the RC, the duties of the committee (on an annual basis), among others,
shall be:-

(1) The setting up and the implementing of a formal and transparent processes by which the remuneration
packages of all the executive directors will be based on.

(2) To review and  approve the remuneration packages and terms of employment of each executive director (in
the form of service agreements) divisional or subsidiary companies’ directors and each employee who is
related to the executive director and / or  controlling shareholder of the Group.

(3) To ensure the remuneration of at least the top five executives (in terms of aggregate remuneration and not
being directors) are formulated and approved.

(4) To review and approve the total remuneration of the executive directors, divisional or subsidiary companies’
directors and employees who are related to the executive directors and controlling shareholders of the Group.

(5) As part of its review, the committee shall ensure that the remuneration package of employees related to the
executive directors and / or controlling shareholders of the Group are in line with the Group’s staff remuneration
guidelines and commensurate with their respective job scopes and level of responsibilities.

(6) No director or member of the RC shall be involved in deciding his own remuneration, except for providing
information and documents specifically requested by the RC to assist it in its deliberations.

Principle 8:  Level and Mix of RemunerationPrinciple 8:  Level and Mix of RemunerationPrinciple 8:  Level and Mix of RemunerationPrinciple 8:  Level and Mix of RemunerationPrinciple 8:  Level and Mix of Remuneration
On 13 July 1999, the Company entered into separate service agreements with the executive directors.  Each of the
Service Agreements took effect from 15 July 1999 and will continue for an indefinite term unless otherwise
terminated by either party giving not less than 6 months notice or an amount equal to 6 months’ salary in lieu of
notice.  Each of the Service Agreements may be terminated by the Company by summary notice upon the occurrence
of certain events, such as misconduct or a beach of the executive directors’ obligations. According to the respective
service agreements, the executive directors are paid;

(a) the remuneration include, among others, a fixed salary and a variable performance bonus; and

(b) A profit share of 1% of the sum arrived at after an amount equivalent to 10% of the paid-up capital is
subtracted from the Company’s audited consolidated profit before taxation as set out in the audited financial
statements for the relevant year, which is designed to align the executive directors’ interests with that of the
Shareholders.

As set out in the table on Principle 9, the performance-related elements of remuneration have formed a
significant proportion of the total remuneration package of executive director, which is designed to align
the executive directors’ interests with that of the Shareholders. The variable bonus make up 4% of the total
remuneration paid to one of the Executive Directors and 3% of the total remuneration paid to two of the
Executive Director in FY2003.
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Executive and non-executive directors are paid directors’ fees, subject to approval at the AGM. Non Executive and
Independent Directors  do not receive salary, bonus and other benefits. Article 109Article 109Article 109Article 109Article 109 states that the Alternate
Director shall notshall notshall notshall notshall not in respect of such appointment be entitled to receive any remuneration from the Company.  Any
fee paid to an Alternate Director shall be deducted from the remuneration otherwise payable by her appointer.

The Company currently does notdoes notdoes notdoes notdoes not have any employee share option schemes.

Principle 9: Disclosure on RemunerationPrinciple 9: Disclosure on RemunerationPrinciple 9: Disclosure on RemunerationPrinciple 9: Disclosure on RemunerationPrinciple 9: Disclosure on Remuneration
For FY2003, the remuneration paid to each of the directors was less than S$250,000. A breakdown of the level and
mix of remuneration of the directors is as folllows:

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
Name & DesignationName & DesignationName & DesignationName & DesignationName & Designation Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000 %%%%% Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000 %%%%%

Neo Koon Boo Salary 81 Salary 81
(Managing Director) Fee* 13 Fee* 13

Bonus 3 Bonus 3
Other Benefits 3 Other Benefits 3

Tan Kim Sing Salary 75 Salary 74
(Executive Director) Fee* 14 Fee* 14

Bonus 4 Bonus 4
Other Benefits 7 Other Benefits 8

Yap Mui Kee Salary 75 Salary 76
(Executive Director) Fee* 15 Fee* 14

Bonus 3 Bonus 4
Other Benefits 7 Other Benefits 6

Tan Kok Hiang Salary - Salary -
(Non Executive, Fee* 100 Fee* 100
Independent Director) Bonus - Bonus -

Other Benefits - Other Benefits -

Low Peng Kit Salary - Salary -
(Non Executive, Fee* 100 Fee* 100
Independent Director) Bonus - Bonus -

Other Benefits - Other Benefits -

Sally Yap Mei Yen Salary 97 Salary 97
(Alternate Director## Fee* - Fee* -
to Yap Mui Kee /Joint Bonus 3 Bonus 3
Company Secretary@@) Other Benefits - Other Benefits -

* Fees are subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM for FY2003
## Alternate Director shall notshall notshall notshall notshall not in respect of such appointment be entitled to receive any remuneration from the

Company according to Article 109Article 109Article 109Article 109Article 109 above.
@@ Remunerated under the capacity of a Joint Company Secretary and does notdoes notdoes notdoes notdoes not belong to the level and mix of

remuneration of the top five key executives as shown below.
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For FY2003, the remuneration paid to each of the top five key executives (in terms of salary and who are not
directors of the Company) was less than S$250,000. A breakdown of the level and mix of remuneration of these
top five key executives is as follows:-

20032003200320032003 20022002200220022002
Name & DesignationName & DesignationName & DesignationName & DesignationName & Designation Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000 %%%%% Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000Below S$250,000 %%%%%

Salary 96 Salary 96
Bonus 4 Bonus 4
Other Benefits - Other Benefits -

Wan Choon Hwa Salary 97 Salary 96
(Recycle Plant Manager) Bonus 3 Bonus 4

Other Benefits - Other Benefits -

William Yap Yew Weng Salary 99 Salary 99
(Senior Sales Manager) Bonus 1 Bonus 1

Other Benefits - Other Benefits -

Yeo Boon Chan Salary 97 Salary 96
(Procurement Manager) Bonus 3 Bonus 4

Other Benefits - Other Benefits -

Terence Chuah Tatt Jin Salary 97 Salary 97
(Marketing Manager) Bonus 3 Bonus 3

Other Benefits - Other Benefits -

NoneNoneNoneNoneNone of the above-mentioned top five key executives is relatedrelatedrelatedrelatedrelated to the Executive, Non Executive, Independent
Directors and Substantial Shareholders.

Although there are employees who are relatedrelatedrelatedrelatedrelated to certain of the Executive directors of the Company, nonenonenonenonenone of their
remuneration exceeds S$150,000 for FY2003.

The Board has not included an annual remuneration report in its annual report for FY2003 (as suggested by
guidance note 9.1 of the Code) as the Board is of the view that the matters which are required to be disclosed in
the annual remuneration report have already been sufficiently disclosed in this Report and in the financial statements
of the Company.
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Communications with the ShareholdersCommunications with the ShareholdersCommunications with the ShareholdersCommunications with the ShareholdersCommunications with the Shareholders

Principle 10: Accountability and AuditPrinciple 10: Accountability and AuditPrinciple 10: Accountability and AuditPrinciple 10: Accountability and AuditPrinciple 10: Accountability and Audit
The Company has adopted bi-annually results reporting ever since its listing.  Bi-annually results are published
through the MASNET and on its public website, www.lht.com.sg, to ensure all stakeholders and the public gain fair
access to information, updates, and archives of the Company. The Board and the Audit Committee are of the view
that it has adequate audit and accountability to the Shareholders and the Management is accountable to the
Board as in line with Principle 6.

Principle 14: Communications with ShareholdersPrinciple 14: Communications with ShareholdersPrinciple 14: Communications with ShareholdersPrinciple 14: Communications with ShareholdersPrinciple 14: Communications with Shareholders
The Board is mindful of the obligation to provide timely and fair disclosure of material information in accordance
with the Corporate Disclosure Policy of the SGX-ST.

All Shareholders receive the annual report and the notice of AGM (the “Notice of AGMNotice of AGMNotice of AGMNotice of AGMNotice of AGM”). The Notice of AGM is
advertised in the newspapers and published via MASNET.

Article 82Article 82Article 82Article 82Article 82 allow a shareholder of the Company to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in place
of the shareholder.

The chairman of the AC, the NC and the RC were present together with the external auditors at the FY2002 AGM
to answer questions raised by shareholders.

Principle 15: Greater Shareholder ParticipationPrinciple 15: Greater Shareholder ParticipationPrinciple 15: Greater Shareholder ParticipationPrinciple 15: Greater Shareholder ParticipationPrinciple 15: Greater Shareholder Participation
The Board welcomes the views of Shareholders on matters affecting the Company, whether at Shareholders’
meetings or on an ad hoc basis. At AGMs, Shareholders are given the opportunity to air their views and to ask the
directors and Management questions regarding the Group.

Dealings in SecuritiesDealings in SecuritiesDealings in SecuritiesDealings in SecuritiesDealings in Securities
The Company has adopted the SGX-ST Best Practices Guide applicable in relation to dealings in the Company’s
securities by its officers. The Company has informed its officers not to deal in the Company’s shares whilst they are
in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information and during the period commencing one month
before the announcement of the Company’s financial results and ending on the date of the announcement of such
financial results. The Company believes that it has complied with the SGX-ST Best Practices Guide.
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Statistics Of Shareholdings
-  AS AT 18 MARCH 2004

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION-  AS AT 18 MARCH 2004SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION-  AS AT 18 MARCH 2004SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION-  AS AT 18 MARCH 2004SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION-  AS AT 18 MARCH 2004SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION-  AS AT 18 MARCH 2004

Authorised Share Capital : $50,000,000
Issued & Fully Paid-up Capital : $21,298,000
Class of Shares : Ordinary Share of $0.10 each
Voting Right : One vote per share

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004
as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

No. of shares of $0.10 Each Fully PaidNo. of shares of $0.10 Each Fully PaidNo. of shares of $0.10 Each Fully PaidNo. of shares of $0.10 Each Fully PaidNo. of shares of $0.10 Each Fully Paid

Direct InterestDirect InterestDirect InterestDirect InterestDirect Interest %%%%% Deemed InterestDeemed InterestDeemed InterestDeemed InterestDeemed Interest %%%%%

Neo Koon Boo 45,527,590 21.38 0 0
Tan Kim Sing 38,619,820 18.13 65,000* 0.03
Yap Mui Kee 22,144,130 10.40 0 0
Ng  E Teck 21,915,500 10.29 0 0

Note:
(a) *65,000 shares held by spouse of Mr. Tan Kim Sing, Mdm Ng Siew Yeng

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 18 MARCH 2004

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGSDISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGSDISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGSDISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGSDISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

No. ofNo. ofNo. ofNo. ofNo. of No.ofNo.ofNo.ofNo.ofNo.of
Size of ShareholdingsSize of ShareholdingsSize of ShareholdingsSize of ShareholdingsSize of Shareholdings ShareholdersShareholdersShareholdersShareholdersShareholders %%%%% SharesSharesSharesSharesShares %%%%%

 1  - 999 0 0 0 0.00
1,000  - 10,000 5,882 87.18 17,176,950 8.07
10,001  - 1,000,000 848 12.57 36,259,000 17.02
1,000,001 and above 17 0.25 159,544,050 74.91

TOTAL: 6,747 100.00 212,980,000 100.00
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERSTWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERSTWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERSTWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERSTWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NameNameNameNameName No.of SharesNo.of SharesNo.of SharesNo.of SharesNo.of Shares %%%%%

1. Neo Koon Boo 45,527,590 21.38
2. Tan Kim Sing 38,619,820 18.13
3. Yap Mui Kee 22,144,130 10.40
4. Ng E Teck 21,915,500 10.29
5. Lee Jim Boon 5,067,690 2.38
6. Yeo Boon Chan 4,426,160 2.08
7. Sing Investments & Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 4,000,000 1.88
8. Lau Koi Fong @ Lau Thim Thai 3,728,000 1.75
9. UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 2,959,000 1.39
10. Lim Kwee Poh 1,606,000 0.75
11. Leong Hwei Min 1,510,000 0.71
12. Leong Kwong Joon 1,505,000 0.71
13. Leong Kwong Chee 1,358,160 0.64
14. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 1,331,000 0.62
15. Chew Ah Ba 1,330,000 0.62
16. Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 1,270,000 0.60
17. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 1,246,000 0.59
18. Lee Yang Lie 1,000,000 0.47
19. Sin Tai Lee Construction Pte Ltd 1,000,000 0.47
20. DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 638,000 0.30

TOTAL :TOTAL :TOTAL :TOTAL :TOTAL : 162,182,050162,182,050162,182,050162,182,050162,182,050 76.1676.1676.1676.1676.16

Free FloatFree FloatFree FloatFree FloatFree Float

Based on information available to the Company as at 18 March 2004,  approximately 39.18% of the
issued ordinary shares of the Company were held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, the Company
has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

Statistics Of Shareholdings
-  AS AT 18 MARCH 2004
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Notice Of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVENNOTICE IS HEREBY GIVENNOTICE IS HEREBY GIVENNOTICE IS HEREBY GIVENNOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of LHT Holdings Limited (“the Company”)
will be held at 27 Sungei Kadut Street 1, Singapore 729335 on Friday, 30 April 2004 at 3.30 p.m for the
following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESSAS ORDINARY BUSINESSAS ORDINARY BUSINESSAS ORDINARY BUSINESSAS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2003 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)(Resolution 1)(Resolution 1)(Resolution 1)(Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect Mr Tan Kim Sing, retiring pursuant to Article 104 of the Company’s Articles of Association.
 (Resolution 2)(Resolution 2)(Resolution 2)(Resolution 2)(Resolution 2)

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$102,000 for the year ended 31 December 2003  (2002:
S$102,000). (Resolution 3)(Resolution 3)(Resolution 3)(Resolution 3)(Resolution 3)

4. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix
their remuneration. (Resolution 4)(Resolution 4)(Resolution 4)(Resolution 4)(Resolution 4)

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General
Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESSAS SPECIAL BUSINESSAS SPECIAL BUSINESSAS SPECIAL BUSINESSAS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution, with or without
any modifications:

6. Authority to allot and issue shares up to 50 per centum (50%) of issued share capital

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806(2) of the Listing Manual of
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors be empowered to allot and issue
shares in the capital of the Company at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such
purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that the aggregate
number of shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fifty per
centum (50%) of the issued share capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution,
of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to all shareholders
of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the  issued share capital of the Company
and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue
in force until the conclusion of the Company's next Annual General Meeting or the date by which
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.
[See Explanatory Note] (Resolution 5)(Resolution 5)(Resolution 5)(Resolution 5)(Resolution 5)
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By Order of the Board

William Tan Tew Hian
Secretary

Singapore, 13 April 2004

Explanatory Note:Explanatory Note:Explanatory Note:Explanatory Note:Explanatory Note:

The Ordinary Resolution 5 proposed in item 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date
of this Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, or the date by which the next Annual
General Meeting is required by law to be held or when varied or revoked by the Company in general
meeting, whichever is the earlier, to allot and issue shares in the Company.  The number of shares that
the Directors may allot and issue under this resolution would not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the
issued capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this resolution.  For issue of shares other than
on a pro rata basis to all shareholders, the aggregate number of shares to be issued shall not exceed
twenty per centum (20%) of the issued capital of the Company.

For the purpose of this resolution, the percentage of issued capital is based on the Company's issued
capital at the time this proposed Ordinary Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares and any
subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.

Notes:Notes:Notes:Notes:Notes:

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the "Meeting") is entitled
to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his/her stead.  A proxy need not be a Member of the
Company.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at
27 Sungei Kadut Street 1, Singapore 729335 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time
appointed for holding the Meeting.

Notice Of Annual General Meeting
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LHT HOLDINGS LIMITEDLHT HOLDINGS LIMITEDLHT HOLDINGS LIMITEDLHT HOLDINGS LIMITEDLHT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated In The Republic Of Singapore)

PROXY FORMPROXY FORMPROXY FORMPROXY FORMPROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing
this Form)

I/We, (Name)

of (Address)

being a member/members of LHT HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC/Passport Proportion of
Number Shareholdings (%)

and /or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport Proportion of
Number Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if
necessary, demand for a poll at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 30 April 2004 at
3.30 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. The proxy is to vote on the business before the meeting as
indicated below.  If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his/
her discretion, as he/she will on any other matter arising at the Meeting:

No.No.No.No.No. Resolutions relating to:Resolutions relating to:Resolutions relating to:Resolutions relating to:Resolutions relating to:  For For For For For AgainstAgainstAgainstAgainstAgainst

1 The adoption of Directors' Report and the Audited Accounts
together with the Auditors' Report thereon

2 Re-election of Mr Tan Kim Sing as a Director of the Company

3 Approval of the payment of Directors' fees of S$102,000

4 Re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company's Auditors
and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration

5 Authority to allot and issue shares up to 50% of issued share capital

(Please indicate with a cross [X] in the space provided whether you wish your vote to be cast for or against the
Resolutions as set out in the Notice of the Meeting.)

Dated this  day of  2004

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a)   CDP Register

(b)   Register of Members

IMPORTANTIMPORTANTIMPORTANTIMPORTANTIMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy LHT

shares, the Annual Report is forwarded to them at the
request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely
FOR  INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and
shall be ineffective for all intents and purpose if used or
purported to be used by them.

3. CPF Investors who wish to vote should contact their CPF
Approved Nominees
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Notes :Notes :Notes :Notes :Notes :

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the
Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should
insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you
should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register
and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of
Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of
Members.  If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to
all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one
or two proxies to attend and vote instead of him/her. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion
of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 27
Sungei Kadut Street 1, Singapore 729335 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the
Annual General Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly
authorised in writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it
must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such
person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies
Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:General:General:General:General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly
completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions
of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of Shares
entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies
lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his name in the
Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified
by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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